# ANTIDIURETIC SUBSTANCES

#### MARY PICKFORD

# Physiology Department, University of Edinburgh

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

$\mathbf{D}$	etection and Assay	254
1.	Substances Acting Directly on the Cells of the Renal Tubules (Antidiuretic hormone	
	of the posterior lobe of the pituitary gland.)	256
	The effect of ADH on the absorption of water from the alimentary canal	256
	The effect of ADH on the ureters	
	The effect of ADH on other extrarenal sites	256
	Site of action of ADH in the kidney	257
	The role of the renal nerves in the action of ADH	258
	The action of ADH on the tubules	258
	Concentration of posterior lobe extract necessary to produce antidiuresis	260
	The rate of ADH release from the posterior lobe	
	The disappearance of ADH from the blood	261
	Form and composition of ADH as released from the posterior lobe	261
2.	Substances Whose Site of Action is in the Central Nervous System	262
	Acetylcholine	263
	Adrenaline	264
	Oxygen lack and carbon dioxide excess	264
3.	Substances Affecting the Circulation of Blood through the Kidney	
	Adrenaline and noradrenaline	<b>266</b>
	Histamine	
	Adenylic acid derivatives	<b>268</b>
	Renin and hypertensin	
	Vasopressin, other vasoactive substances, and the intrarenal redistribution of blood	<b>269</b>
	Miscellaneous Antidiuretic Substances and Causes of Antidiuresis	
	Ferritin	
	Hepato-renal syndrome	
	Adrenal cortical disorders	
	Antidiuretic substances found in pregnancy	273
	Various steroids	
5.	Summary	275

In this review the discussion will be limited to a consideration of those antidiuretic substances which are found in animal tissues and body fluids. The qualification antidiuretic, as used here, relates to those substances which cause water retention either by an action in the kidney or on other tissues. For the purpose of discussion, antidiuretic substances have been classified in four groups as shown in the table of contents. For the sake of brevity the letters ADH have been used in some places where "posterior pituitary extract containing vasopressor and antidiuretic fractions" would have been more accurate.

# Detection and Assay

Since reliable methods of detection and assay are essential for the identification and proper understanding of the action of antidiuretic substances, a short account follows of the methods available. So far, owing to our ignorance of the nature of most antidiuretic substances, biological assay is necessary. All the methods depend on testing tissue extracts or body fluids from one animal on a second test animal(s) which is in a state of water diuresis. Most often the method of Burn (23), or a modification of it (80), has been used. In this method observation is made of the time taken for a group of rats to excrete an orally given volume of water with or without the subcutaneous injection of the material to be tested. The unknown substance can also be administered intraperitoneally (12). Instead of rats, mice have been used (166). It seems, however, that mice are not wholly satisfactory, since their control rates of water excretion are less regularly reproducible than those of rats. Bigger animals such as rabbits and dogs have also been used, and have the advantage that both standard and unknown can be compared on the same animal, and that fewer animals are necessary (16, 36, 95, 143, 170, 173, 246). Recently, Jeffers, Livezey and Austin (121) have described a sensitive rat method in which the substances to be tested are given intravenously during ethanol narcosis, and in which standard and unknown can be used on the same animal during the course of a single set of observations. Man, too, has been used as a test animal (18). The sensitivity of the tests varies greatly. The rat method of Burn detects about 20 mU. of antidiuretic activity, that of Jeffers, Livezey and Austin 0.02 mU. In the rabbit 0.2 mU. can be detected (246), and in the dog 0.1 mU. (170). The methods mentioned were specifically designed to measure the activity of the antidiuretic hormone of the posterior lobe of the pituitary (ADH). Occasionally discrepancies have appeared that can be accounted for only by assuming that antidiuretic substances are made in tissues other than the posterior lobe (7, 246), or that the test method was unsuitable. At least in a number of instances the latter was true. Body fluids may contain substances which, on subcutaneous injection, "augment" the action of antidiuretic hormone by stabilising it, or causing it to be more slowly absorbed (167). Sometimes, too, subcutaneously or intraperitoneally injected material causes pain, and both pain and excitement, as will be shown later, may lead to antidiuresis (239). As an example of the confusion that may arise from the use of unsuitable test methods may be cited the finding that rat serum obtained by heart puncture was more actively antidiuretic than serum collected from the carotid artery (81). The sera were tested on rats and administered subcutaneously. Further difficulties of interpretation arose from the finding that carotid plasma was without antidiuretic effect, and that there appeared to be two antidiuretic substances, one stable and the other unstable (81). Ames and van Dyke (4), using the method of Jeffers, Livezey and Austin, i.e., intravenous administration of the test substance, obtained consistent results that were easy to explain. They could find no ADH in rat blood collected by decapitation provided that the animals were tranquil until the moment of death, but could always detect ADH in serum collected by heart puncture or under ether anaesthesia, even if the rats had first been hydrated. The ADH concentration was identical in serum and heparinised plasma. Under no conditions of blood collection could ADH be detected if the rats had first been hypophysectomised. Thus it is evident that great care must be taken to control the circumstances in which body fluids are collected, and, as far as possible, the material to be tested should be injected intravenously (49) rather than subcutaneously or intraperitoneally, since it is then less likely to evoke secretion from the test rat's own posterior lobe.

#### 1. SUBSTANCES ACTING DIRECTLY ON THE CELLS OF THE RENAL TUBULES

There is one tissue substance that is now generally believed to be antidiuretic by virtue of a specific effect on the cells of the renal tubules, namely, the antidiuretic hormone of the posterior lobe of the pituitary. The evidence for the site of origin of ADH, that it may indeed be considered a hormone, and that it is antidiuretic and not diuretic as was thought at first, has been given in previous reviews (67, 97, 169, 178, 240), and therefore will not be repeated.

There have been suggestions that ADH has mainly an extrarenal action. Two of these suggestions can quickly be discarded.

## The effect of ADH on the absorption of water from the alimentary canal

Several workers have shown that posterior pituitary extract does not prolong the emptying time of the stomach (26, 39, 105, 186), nor delay absorption from the intestine. Thus, delayed absorption cannot be considered a factor in the antidiuretic effect of ADH.

#### The effect of ADH on the ureters

That the ureters go into spasm after posterior pituitary extract administration has been put forward as an explanation of its antidiuretic effect (148, 150). This may, in part, account for the action if fairly large doses of extract are given, but is certainly not the whole or most important reason. Ross and Stehle (192) could find no spasm, and antidiuresis always occurred in the experiments of Verney (238) on the isolated kidney, and of Klisiecki, Pickford, Rotschild and Verney (126), and of Pickford (176) on the conscious dog, in which a cannula had been inserted whose tip lay in the pelvis of the kidney, thus eliminating all possibility of ureteral obstruction to the flow of urine.

### The effect of ADH on other extrarenal sites

Molitor and Pick are the chief protagonists of the view that ADH acts extrarenally. They and their co-workers published a series of papers in which they believed they had shown that posterior lobe extract acts either on a water control centre in the central nervous system, or on the water-binding capacity of the tissues generally (161–164). Theobald (222) could not repeat, and criticised their work, and Janssen (120) showed by means of spinal cord and nerve sections that the antidiuretic action of posterior lobe extract does not depend on the integrity of the central nervous system. Buschke (26), following a different line of investigation, found that in nephrectomised rabbits the administration of posterior pituitary extract raised the blood chloride concentration. He concluded, therefore, that posterior pituitary hormone acts on the tissues to release chloride, and that this, in turn, affects the excretion of water. There is no evidence that with moder-

ate water loading physiological amounts of ADH cause tissue hydration. On the contrary, v. Konschegg and Schuster (129) were the first amongst many to show that during antidiuresis posterior pituitary extract increased the water content of the blood. This observation has been confirmed in various animals, including man (15, 39, 190, 237). In dogs, for instance, pituitary antidiuresis may give rise to marked salivation (222). Thus, the presentation of insufficient water to the kidneys cannot be the cause of pituitary antidiuresis. There is further evidence of direct renal action in that the polyuria of the isolated perfused kidney is lessened if the kidney is supplied with posterior pituitary extract (210). This point was strikingly shown by Verney (238), who included a head in the perfusion circuit. Provided that the pituitary gland was present in the head the polyuria of the isolated kidney was reduced, but if the gland had been removed the polyuria persisted. The weight of evidence is all in favour of the antidiuretic effect of posterior pituitary extract being a direct renal one. To say this is not to exclude the possibility that extracts may in addition, and under some circumstances, have an action, perhaps nonspecific on the tissues (149, 213, 232, 259).

# Site of action of ADH in the kidney

Accepting that the antidiuretic action of ADH is renal, it is then necessary to seek for the exact site of action in the kidney. The site certainly varies with the type of animal observed. Below the order Reptilia posterior pituitary extract is not antidiuretic. In reptiles, using alligators, Burgess, Harvey and Marshall (21) found that pituitary antidiuresis was accompanied by a fall in glomerular filtration rate (GFR), with no suggestion of increased water reabsorption in the tubules. In chickens the same observers found that antidiuresis could be induced with only a small change in GFR, though with larger doses of pitressin the filtration rate was markedly depressed. For rabbit, rat, dog and man there is a mass of evidence, both direct and indirect, that antidiuresis occurs without change in the vascular relations in the kidney. Direct measurements of renal blood flow have been made by means of the Rein thermostromuhr, and no change from normal was found as the result of administering ADH to conscious dogs (94, 244). Walker, Schmidt, Elsom and Johnston (248), observing the effect of ADH in both dogs and rabbits, found no parallelism between renal blood flow and urine flow, and concluded that the changes they observed in the latter depended on alterations in the activity of the tubule cells. Indirect evidence has been obtained by means of renal clearance measurements, and has given no cause to believe that pituitary antidiuresis is necessarily associated with changes in GFR or renal plasma flow (RPF) (199, 206). Lamport (138), by calculations based on his own results and those of others, found that in pituitary antidiuresis there was no consistent change in intracapillary pressure or effective arteriolar resistance in the kidney of the dog. A few observers have tried to obtain information about the action of ADH by measuring renal oxygen consumption under various conditions. The earlier work is difficult to interpret as it was done on isolated kidneys or anaesthetized eviscerated animals (65, 127). More recently, Cutting and McCance (42, 43) observed the metabolic rate of kidney slices from adult and infant rats and noted that posterior pituitary extract increased oxygen consumption of adult kidney, but was almost without action on infant kidney slices. If we allow that ADH has an action on the kidney and causes it to do work, these facts correlate well with the known ineffectiveness of ADH as an antidiuretic in young infants.

It may safely be concluded that in mammals, when ADH is used in physiological amounts, its effect is due to a specific action on the tubule cells of the renal epithelium.

# The role of the renal nerves in the action of ADH

Motzfeldt (165) believed that the antidiuretic action of posterior pituitary extract was renal in origin, and that the sympathetic nervous system played some part in the reaction. He made his observations on anaesthetized rabbits. Later observers, using unanaesthetized animals, have not been able to show that the peripheral sympathetic nerves are in any way concerned in the action of ADH (64, 126, 194, 223). For example, Samaan (194) made his observations on conscious dogs whose two kidneys had been separately cannulated, and one of which had been denervated by stripping the walls of the artery and vein and separating the kidney from all its attachments except the main blood vessels and ureter. In this well controlled experiment he could find no difference in the response of the two kidneys to ADH.

#### The action of ADH on the tubules

Burgess, Harvey and Marshall (21) pointed out that birds are the lowest of the vertebrate series to respond to ADH by a reduction in the rate of urine flow without the necessary accompaniment of a marked reduction in GFR, and that they were also the first animals to show a thin segment in the loop of Henle. These authors therefore made the interesting suggestion that the thin segment is the site both of water reabsorption and of the action of ADH. As the thin segment looks admirably adapted to the transfer of water these suggestions were accepted and are often quoted as though both hypotheses were proven. Further, it was noticed that in certain desert rodents the thin segment is longer than in related species living near ample water supplies (128, 208). The idea of Burgess et al. is attractive, but should not be allowed to close the mind against other possibilities. With regard to the observations on birds, a close examination of the evidence shows in how many ways the kidney of the bird differs from that of dog and man. In the first place, relatively large amounts of ADH have to be used to produce antidiuresis, the GFR is extremely variable, and there is a distinct tendency for it to rise during water diuresis and to fall during hormonal antidiuresis. Further, the onset of diuresis after the administration of water by stomach tube may show the typical mammalian latency (126) between the peak of water load and the peak of diuresis, or there may be no latency at all. Again, ADH reduces the rate of urine flow even in dehydrated chickens excreting an already concentrated urine (130). Finally, the thin segment of Henle's loop is present to a variable extent in different birds and is always short (114). It has to be remembered, too,

that birds and mammals are separately developed branches of the vertebrate tree and that hormones common to both may not have been put to the same use, as has happened with oxytocin in the Amphibia (102, 211). Thus, in birds, the thin segment may well be concerned with the reabsorption of water, but that is not to say that it is also the site of action of ADH. Deductions made from observations on rats can perhaps be more easily transferred to other mammals; but, again, rodents are in many ways highly specialised. Ames and van Dyke (3) found that the kangaroo rat, an inhabitant of desert country, had relatively more ADH in its pituitary gland than the common laboratory rat, and excreted absolutely more ADH into its urine. Thus, desert rats may have an increased supply of ADH and longer thin segments for it to act on (128, 208), or they may have a double and unrelated protection against water loss. That such animals do not rely on their kidneys alone for water conservation was shown by Schmidt-Nielsen and Schmidt-Nielsen (197), who found that they lose only half as much water through the lungs as do most rodents.

Although in the thin segment the cells are flat and have an inactive appearance this does not, of itself, prove that they have no power to do work. It has been shown that the epithelial cells in the gills of eels and some other teleosts are able to transfer water and chloride from blood to seawater against a high osmotic pressure and, moreover, that the chloride and water are conveyed independently of each other (125, 196). However, the working cells appear to be large ones with central nuclei at the base of the leaflets, and are unlike the flat respiratory epithelium (125a). There is here, then, not even an indirect argument for the hypothesis that the thin segment of the loop of Henle does secretory work. In general, the cuboidal cells of the distal tubules appear much more likely to take an active part in the formation of the final urine.

Wirz, Hargitay and Kuhn (256) looked for the site of urine concentration by means of cryoscopic observations on kidney slices from rats. They found that the osmotic pressure of the kidney rose steadily from the outer border of the cortex to the tip of the papilla. They interpreted this as meaning that tubular urine was concentrated in the descending limb, diluted again in the ascending, and finally concentrated in the collecting duct. These findings suggest the importance of two parts of the tubules in the concentration of urine. This work is, however, open to the criticism that diffusion may have occurred from, say, the highly concentrated urine in the collecting ducts to the relatively less concentrated solution in the loops of Henle. This point may be settled by work now in progress on golden hamsters, in which the papilla protrudes into the hilus of the ureter, so that both capillary blood and urine from specific tubules can be collected from that part of the kidney (Wirz, personal communication).

Smith (207) discusses the results of some observations (252) on the response of dogs to osmotic diversis with and without pitressin infusion, and shows that they could be interpreted as indicating that the function of the thin segment is the passive reabsorption of water so that the distal limb receives urine isosmotic with the plasma, though not of the same composition, many constituents having been absorbed in the proximal tubule (248). The distal tubule is, then, responsible

for the final adjustment of urine composition by the reabsorption of Na and water, its activity being hormonally controlled. In the case of water the hormone concerned would be ADH.

There is yet another possibility; Ljungberg (146) by means of a 3 mm.-diameter punch collected radial cylinders from the kidneys of rabbits and examined them in serial section for their Cl content at various levels from the surface. After making allowance for the fact that all varieties of tissue in any section were included in the final Cl estimate, it was found that there was least Cl at the junction of cortex and medulla, that the epithelium of the proximal tubules contained 99–111 mg./100 g. and that the cells of the collecting ducts contained 2,500–2,700 mg./100 g. The deduction made was that the collecting tubules were actively concerned in Cl reabsorption. However, a different interpretation is possible, namely, that a high Cl concentration in the distal and collecting tubules is linked with the final stage of water reabsorption (207). If this is the case, then possibly, the cells of the collecting ducts are one of the sites of action of ADH.

It is evident that, with the information at present available, it is not possible to make any final statement as to the exact point of action of ADH. Fairly certainly the action lies beyond the proximal tubule. It may influence reabsorption in the thin segment; but, more probably, it acts on the cuboidal cells of the distal tubules. Lastly, there is the possibility that ADH may have some effect on the cells of the collecting ducts.

#### Concentration of posterior lobe extract necessary to produce antidiuresis

In the alligator, Burgess et al. (21) found that 5 mU. pitressin/kg. given intramuscularly produced a perceptible diminution in the rate of urine flow. This dose, which in the alligator depends for its action on a decreased GFR, may be compared with the effective intravenous dose in other animals, in which its action is on the epithelial cells of the tubules. In a dog of 12–15 kg. a marked inhibition of appreciable duration may follow the injection of 1 mU. posterior lobe extract (171). Transient inhibitions follow the intravenous injection of as little as 0.1–0.2 mU. (170, 176, 222). Thus, in the dog full inhibition could be produced by about 0.08 mU./kg. intravenously. In rats 0.4 mU./100g. is effective, and in mice the minimum effective dose is 0.05 mU./20g. (104). In these rodents, then, relatively more extract must be used than in dog or man. Hart and Verney (98) calculated for man that, of hormone released normally from the posterior lobe, the concentration in the plasma which causes partial inhibition of maximum water diuresis is less than one part in 1.66 × 10<sup>-10</sup>.

#### The rate of ADH release from the posterior lobe

Attempts to measure directly the normal output of ADH are hampered by the small amount of hormone that need be present in the blood to inhibit urine flow, and also by the difficulty of obtaining blood direct from the gland. Observations have frequently been made on dehydrated animals in which ADH concentration is likely to be high, and therefore easier to estimate. Often, measurement is made of the quantity of ADH in urine collected over a number of hours. This

method has the advantage that samples for assay are easy to collect; also it has been shown that 20-30% of hormone added to the circulating blood was excreted into the urine, where it is fairly stable (122). By such means it has been estimated that dehydrated rats excrete 80 mU. in 24 hr., and that in 6 hr. after NaCl administration rats produce 10-20 mU. of urinary ADH (78). In the urine of severely dehydrated cats 20-400 mU. were found (117). Since none could be found in similar circumstances after hypohysectomy, the pituitary origin of the antidiuretic material was indicated (118). During water diuresis in dogs the amount of ADH liberated by a brief emotional stimulus is about 5-10 mU. (168, 170). Since in dogs 1 mU. is sufficient to cause maximum inhibition of urine flow, it is evident that in the absence of a heavy water load less than this amount in the circulation will be enough to maintain urine flow at the resting rate. Hare, Hickey and Hare (95), using both normal dogs and those with diabetes insipidus, came to the conclusion that usually there was less than 1 mU./100 ml. blood present in the circulation. By giving continuous intravenous infusions of ADH to dogs with diabetes insipidus Shannon (199) found that 1-5 mU./hr. caused the maximal antidiuretic action. Greater amounts than this did not produce a greater antidiuresis. Probably, then, in the normal dog, the release from the gland of 5 mU./hr. would be sufficient to maintain a low rate of urine flow. About the same rate of release seems to be effective in man (139). Normal subjects were kept in a state of full hydration in order to depress endogenous ADH production, and long-continued intravenous infusions were given of varying concentrations of pitressin. For the maximal effect the amount of hormone needed in man was 5 mU./ kg./hr.

Measurements have been made of the amount of hormone found in the gland in different animals and man (3, 32, 101–103, 107, 134, 204, 205). These estimates are interesting; for instance, the gland of the newborn human infant contains 20% lessA DH/mg. dry gland than that of the adult. This information, however, tells one nothing of the rate of release of the hormone into the circulation.

#### The disappearance of ADH from the blood

If, during water diuresis in the dog, 0.5 mU. is injected intravenously its inhibitory effect will have disappeared in 30–40 min. (222). It has also been shown that intravenously injected posterior lobe extract disappears rapidly from the blood and is in part, at least, bound by the plasma proteins and the tissues (106, 122, 221). The bound hormone is, however, antidiuretic on intravenous administration into a hydrated animal, so that the binding does not render it inactive. Possibly, too, there is enzymatic destruction of ADH, especially in the liver (11, 106).

# Form and composition of ADH as released from the posterior lobe

As yet it is uncertain in what form ADH is released from the posterior lobe; it may be as a separate hormone, or as part of a large protein molecule whose other portion contains the oxytocic hormone (1, 236). The antidiuretic and oxytocic principles have been prepared separately in highly active form although

each of the final fractions was contaminated with the other to the extent of about 1% (123). Against this, there is evidence that by using the gentlest possible methods of chemical concentration and by ultracentrifugation all the active substances concentrate to the same extent (93, 191, 236), suggesting the existence of a single large molecule from which active fractions break off. In man and rat Simon and Nagy (205) and Simon (203) found that the oxytocin and vasopressin content of the glands generally ran parallel. Vaichulis (235) noticed that hormones from autolysed glands showed a greater solubility than those from fresh ones. Both the observations favour the idea of a mother substance. As Stehle (212) points out, even if the gland elaborates a single hormone with multiple activities it does not necessarily mean that that is the form to which the physiological actions are due. If a parent molecule exists it is not known how it is broken into the separate parts. A difficulty in accepting the unitary idea is the report that the various hormones do not occur in the same proportion in all species (74). Recently, too, Cross (41a) has shown in diuretic rabbits that 0.4-1.0 mU. posterior pituitary extract causes an antidiuresis resembling that seen on suckling, whilst the "let-down" of milk, which most workers agree is due to the oxytoxic factor, requires the injections of 50-200 mU. These facts strongly suggest that the two hormones can be independently released from the gland.

It is generally believed that the pressor fraction and ADH are one and the same. Certainly they seem to behave in much the same way towards chemical reagents. Heller (100), however, found that ADH was more stable than the pressor fraction over a wide range of pH, and he prepared solutions with considerable antidiuretic potency, but little pressor action.

The pressor-antidiuretic fraction of posterior lobe extract appears to contain the following amino acids; cystine, tyrosine and perhaps arginine (119, 183, 212, 242).

#### 2. SUBSTANCES WHOSE SITE OF ACTION IS IN THE CENTRAL NERVOUS SYSTEM

Water comes within the definition of a substance found in living tissues, and its concentration in the body is obviously of first importance in regulating the output of ADH. The subject is a vast one and is discussed in a number of books and articles (67, 169, 178, 207, 213). In this place no more than a brief summary of recent information will be given. The quantity of ADH liberated from the posterior lobe depends on the water load of the body (176). The electrolyte concentration of the blood also depends on the water load. Changes in osmolarity of the blood stimulate or inhibit as yet unidentified receptors in the hypothalamus (239, 240). The stimulus, on reaching the supraoptic nuclei, is transmitted down the pituitary stalk by the nerve fibres arising from the cells of these nuclei, and causes the release of more or less ADH by the posterior lobe of the pituitary (58, 67, 178, 179).

However, it is evident that control of ADH production depends also on factors other than water concentration. Urine flow may be reduced at times when it would seem physiological for it to increase or remain high. For instance, an emotional stimulus occurring during the course of a water diuresis results in a

diminished rate of urine flow despite the still high water load (168, 170, 171). Certain sensory stimuli also inhibit urine flow during water diuresis (222). Brief exercise, in so far as it has an emotional content, is also inhibitory (193, 239, 240). Finally, the onset of water diuresis or the inhibition of water excretion may be initiated by conditioned reflexes or hypnosis (27, 28, 59, 86, 110, 140, 155, 156). Thus, processes occurring within the central nervous system, either in the cerebral cortex or in lower centres, may influence ADH release. It is, therefore, interesting to examine by what means these internal stimuli are transmitted to the posterior lobe.

#### Acetylcholine

Two substances are known that are chemical transmitters for at least some peripheral nerve endings, namely, acetylcholine (ACh) and noradrenaline. As regards noradrenaline, there is so far no evidence that it is a central transmitter at synapses on the path to the posterior lobe, though sympathin is found in the hypothalamus in higher concentration than elsewhere in the central nervous system (243). There is growing evidence that ACh is a central transmitter, particularly to the supraoptic nerve cells (58, 66). In 1924 Molitor and Pick (162) drew attention to the fact that choline HCl administered intravenously, delayed the onset of water diuresis. They also remarked that its ester, ACh, was antidiuretic on intravenous, but not on subcutaneous, injection. They ascribed the effect of choline to a change in water distribution. Dikshit (52, 53) found that the injection of ACh into the cerebral ventricle of cats produced effects similar to electrical stimulation of those parts. This latter central action of ACh suggested that perhaps this substance might play a part in the liberation of ADH, and experiments were made on the effect of ACh on urine flow. It was shown that in conscious normal dogs the intravenous injection of ACh during the course of water diuresis resulted in a temporary reduction in the rate of urine flow, but that no inhibition occurred if the posterior lobe of the pituitary had previously been removed (177). An intact pituitary gland, then, was necessary for the antidiuretic action of ACh. In later experiments on dogs under light chloralose anaesthesia, an attempt was made to locate the site of action of ACh by injecting it in a small volume of 0.9 % NaCl solution direct into one or other supraoptic nucleus (179). As a result of this proceeding an established water diuresis could be inhibited, provided the posterior lobe was intact. Injections made into other parts of the hypothalamus were without effect on the rate of urine flow. From these observations it appeared possible that ACh was a transmitter to the supraoptic cells. This explanation became highly probable after prolonged observation of dogs into whose supraoptic nuclei diisopropylfluorophosphonate (DFP) had been injected (58). In these animals after several days of polyuria the daily level of fluid exchange returned to normal, but intravenously administered ACh was without effect on the rate of urine flow for as long as 89-139 days after DFP injection. Towards the end of this number of days there was a period when ACh was sometimes effective and sometimes not. After this length of time ACh resumed its normal inhibiton of the rate of urine flow, as always without alteration in either GFR or RPF (58). In confirmation of the central action of ACh was the observation that if it was injected into the carotid artery rather than into the malleolar vein, far smaller doses were effective in reducing a diuretic rate of urine flow (181). Lastly, nicotine is antidiuretic in normal animals and man, but not in those with diabetes insipidus (22, 25, 33, 144, 219). Thus, there is good reason to believe that ACh is a substance concerned in controlling the output of ADH owing to its transmitter action on the cells of the supraoptic nuclei.

#### Adrenaline

The part played by adrenaline (or noradrenaline) in the central control of ADH release is complex and its physiological function uncertain. Observations on the emotional inhibition of water diuresis in conscious dogs (171, 239, 240) made it clear that endogenously liberated adrenaline, or adrenaline injected intravenously one half minute before the occurrence of the emotional stimulus, prevented the appearance of the expected antidiuresis. The lack of an antidiuretic response after adrenaline was not due to renal insensitivity to ADH. The action seemed to be a central one and, moreover, independent of changes in systemic blood pressure. Since it has been shown that in the periphery, under certain conditions, ACh and adrenaline are antagonistic (19, 20, 147, 153) there was the possibility that centrally, also, adrenaline interfered with the action of ACh. It was found that if 10-15 µg, adrenaline was injected intravenously just before, or with, a dose of ACh sufficient to decrease a diuretic rate of urine flow, then, on about half of such occasions the antidiuresis failed to appear (57). As ACh alone is rarely ineffective this again suggested a central action of adrenaline, perhaps even on the supraoptic nerve cells. If, instead of giving the drugs intravenously, they were given by intracarotid injection, 2  $\mu$ g. adrenaline given 11–38 sec. before 0.2 mg. ACh regularly prevented the ADH-releasing action of the latter (Pickford and Watt, unpublished work). Thus, both ACh and adrenaline are concerned with the central control of ADH release. In all probability ACh acts by transmitting impulses to the supraoptic nuclei. The mode of action of adrenaline has yet to be determined. It may directly interfere with the physicochemical reactions of ACh, or there may be local capillary sensitivity to adrenaline, so that the vessels surrounding the supraoptic cells constrict and ACh is prevented from reaching its site of action, or lastly, adrenaline may stimulate other neurones having an influence on the supraoptic cells.

# Oxygen lack and carbon dioxide excess

It has been shown that both anoxia and hypercapnia may, by an action on the central nervous system, alter vascular conditions in the kidney and hence the rate of urine flow. In conscious men and animals anoxia generally causes polyuria (202), but in anaesthetized animals oliguria results from severe anoxia, though polyuria may be seen if the anoxia is mild (10, 215). Although it is possible in anaesthetized animals to simulate renal anoxia by the administration of large amounts of adrenaline (230), nevertheless, the adrenal blood vessels can be ligatured and the anoxic response induced as before. The adrenals, therefore, are

not necessary for the appearance of the reaction. Intact renal nerves are, however, essential if the antidiuretic effect of anoxia is to be seen. After denervation of the kidneys the rate of urine flow passively follows the systemic blood pressure, but with intact renal nerves anoxia causes a reduction in renal blood flow and the kidney becomes pale and shrunken (230). Possibly there are chemoreceptors in the spinal cord. Franklin, McGee and Ullmann (69) found that the anoxic response of the kidney occurred as usual both after decerebration and, in one instance, after transection of the spinal cord at D4. They did not suggest that the response is always initiated at this level, only that it can occur when these centres alone are intact. There is some evidence that there are cerebral cortical centres which may influence renal blood vessels. Hoff, Kell, Hastings, Gray and Sholes (108) found that prolonged stimulation of the proreus and sigmoideus gyri and orbital surfaces of the cerebral cortex induced a marked renal ischaemia, but they could not suggest under what circumstances these centres would go into action. The last observations were made on cats.

Hypercapnia causes anuria in both dogs and rabbits, even after generous hydration, but if the kidneys are denervated urine is still excreted slowly. In rabbits the surface of the kidney can be seen to pale (55, 69). Draper and Whitehead (55) tried to determine whether the anuria could be accounted for by diversion of the renal blood supply from cortex to medulla. They examined frozen sections of the kidneys of rabbits, into whose blood stream mercuric sulphide had been injected. They found that after denervation the cortical glomeruli of the hypercapnic kidney were clearly visible and must have had a circulation of blood. In the innervated kidney the cortex was pale and, judging by the photograph published, so also were the medulla and the juxtamedullary region. There must, then, have been a closing down of the circulation through the whole kidney. In dogs they were not able to obtain a contrasting picture between innervated and denervated kidney. The analysis of the mode of action of central anoxia and hypercapnia is complicated by the number of centres that may be thrown into activity or inhibited, such as adrenal medullary centres, centres linked with the adrenal cortex or pituitary, and the vasomotor centre as a whole.

# 3. SUBSTANCES AFFECTING THE CIRCULATION OF BLOOD THROUGH THE KIDNEY Under this heading are included substances acting directly on the blood vessels, or on the nerve endings supplying the vessels.

Richards and Plant (188) and Dreyer and Verney (56) were amongst the first to point out that intrarenal blood pressure is largely independent of systemic blood pressure. It cannot, therefore, be expected that systemic blood pressure changes, unless considerable, will have much effect on the production of urine. Far more important from this point of view, is what happens in the kidney itself. The production of urine depends in the first place on filtration from the glomeruli into the capsular spaces, and for this purpose the minimum pressure necessary seems to be about 75 mm. Hg (255). Any differential reactivity of the vasa efferentia and afferentia of the glomeruli may cause a change in the rate of urine

flow owing to a change in the effective filtration pressure. Further, if the blood supply to some glomeruli is cut off whilst that to others supplying a different or similar type of nephron opens, then again the rate of production and the composition of the final urine may alter.

The substances to be considered in this section are adrenaline, (and nor-adrenaline), histamine, adenylic acid derivatives, renin and hypertensin, and vasopressin.

# Adrenaline and noradrenaline

The injection of adrenaline may lead to either polyuria or oliguria according to the dose and route of administration. In intact man, dog, rabbit, rat and guinea pig the intramuscular or subcutaneous injection of adrenaline results in polyuria. There is also polyuria if the drug is given slowly or in small doses by the intravenous route (41, 73, 111, 145, 229). Thus, polyuria follows if the blood concentration of administered adrenaline is low. With high blood concentrations the rate of urine flow is reduced. The oliguric action is easily seen following a single intravenous injection, when the inhibition is fleeting, or continuous intravenous infusions (57, 177, 193, 222, 223). Unless the kidneys have been denervated there is no correlation between systemic blood pressure and urine flow. Therefore, if the rate of urine flow is seen to change, it is probably because the adrenaline has had an intrarenal effect. There is no evidence that it has any specific action on the cells of the tubules. Richards and Plant (188), observing that in the perfused rabbit kidney adrenaline increased both the resistance to perfusion and the volume of the kidney, suggested that the polyuric effect was due to increased filtration brought about by constriction of the efferent arterioles of the glomeruli, accompanied by dilatation, or no change, in the afferent arterioles. Winton's (254) observations on the isolated kidney of the dog seem to bear out this suggestion. He found that low concentrations of adrenaline caused an increase in the rate of urine flow accompanied by only a slight reduction in the blood flow, and an increase in filtration pressure. Greater concentrations of adrenaline decreased the rate of urine flow with a fairly marked reduction in blood flow and glomerular pressure. The reduction in renal blood flow has also been observed in intact animals by the use of the thermostromular (99, 209, 234). Smith (207), citing unpublished work of Gomez, thinks that adrenaline diuresis cannot be explained by a preferential efferent vasoconstriction. On the basis of clearance observations made in man he believes that adrenaline constricts the venules, and so prevents water reabsorption. Also the venular constriction, by altering the interstitial pressure and water content, would explain the increase in volume noticed by Richards and Plant. Adrenaline antidiuresis is easily explained by a general vasoconstriction of the smaller renal arterioles, and venules according to Smith (35, 89, 229, 254).

Clearance measurements show that with doses of adrenaline sufficient to produce oliguria (about  $2\mu g_{./}$ min.) both GFR and RPF are reduced in dogs (182). Some workers believe that denervation of the kidneys sensitises them to the action of large doses of adrenaline (133, 152). Others have not observed this phenomenon (182).

Eränkö and Karvonen (60) find that if large (0.5 mg.) doses of adrenaline are given intravenously to conscious dogs a biphasic antidiuretic effect is seen, the second part of which is long-lasting and takes 20 min. to reach its maximum. Urine collected during the antidiuretic phases contains an antidiuretic substance, as judged by its effect when injected intravenously into the dog from which the urine was collected. The authors think that large doses of adrenaline cause the release of ADH from the posterior lobe. The work is still in its early stages. Possibly, the renal ischaemia that must follow the use of such large doses of adrenaline is the cause of the prolonged antidiuresis. Verney and Vogt (241) noticed that prolonged antidiuresis could result from a 5–120 sec. compression of the renal artery in the conscious dog, and that the antidiuresis was associated with hypertension in unilaterally nephrectomized animals.

From the information available it seems that noradrenaline acts on the kidney more powerfully than adrenaline, but in the same way, at any rate as far as the excretion of water is concerned (24, 182). In rats noradrenaline increases absolutely the excretion of Cl, a phenomenon not seen after the administration of adrenaline (61, 111).

#### Histamine

A consideration of the action of histamine on the kidney is important since it has repeatedly been shown that histamine is released into the circulation from all injured tissues, whether the injury is mechanical or due to allergy, and that the liberated histamine can cause profound disturbances at many sites.

Most observations on the kidneys have been made after subcutaneous administration of histamine, and the results vary. In man, any antidiuretic effect of 0.15-0.7 mg, is generally slight or absent. The subjects examined were either normal, hypertensive or suffering from diabetes insipidus (75, 187, 250). In dogs Molitor and Pick (162) found that antidiuresis followed a total dose of 1 mg., whereas Theobald and White (223) observed no renal action after a total dose of 0.5 mg. Gilman and Kidd (79) gave 2.5  $\mu$ g./kg. intravenously to dogs and did observe antidiuresis. The writer has noticed slight or sometimes marked antidiuresis follow the intravenous injection of 20 µg. into a dog of 20 kg. weight. The same variability in response has been noticed in rabbits (104, 162). Most workers agree that the changes in renal function are not directly dependent on the fall in systemic blood pressure that occurs. Reubi and Futcher (187) measured the PAH and mannitol clearances in man after subcutaneous histamine and found that in normal subjects both GFR and RPF fell. This, they believe, was due to afferent arteriolar constriction. The renal volume changes seen by Dale and Laidlaw (44) could also be interpreted as due to arteriolar constriction. Bjering (14) found in man that creatinine and urea clearances fell, and thought that both glomerular and tubular vessels constricted. It is evident that the exact mode of action of histamine is not settled. In man histamine induces general arteriolar constriction, unlike adrenaline the response to which shows regional differences. This fact, with the evidence mentioned, makes it reasonable to suppose that histamine induces arteriolar constriction in the kidney. The injection of histamine also causes the release of adrenaline from the adrenal medulla

and this may influence the final result, either by adding to the constrictor effect or, in smaller amounts, by partially counteracting the histamine antidiuresis.

There are some data on the effects of certain types of shock on the kidneys of dogs. After acute haemorrhagic and traumatic shock PAH clearances are normal until the RPF falls very low (37, 174). At first sight this might suggest that histamine is not a factor in causing the oliguria of shock, but these observations were acute ones made on anaesthetized dogs, whereas in man death tends to occur a few days after injury. Chronic experiments show that the kidney of the dog is capable of recovery if its circulation has not been cut off for too long, or too frequently in a short space of time (37, 174). Dog's kidneys seem to be more resistant than those of man, in whom a relatively short-lived ischaemia may be so damaging to the kidney that its functional recovery is too slow to permit survival of the rest of the organism. Cort and Barron (38) found that in cats the anuria of trauma could be relieved by the injection of local anaesthetics into the splanchnic nerve or the spinal roots supplying the kidney. It is possible, then, that ischaemia and anuria following injury may be partly reflex in origin and partly due to excessive amounts of histamine and other vasoactive substances present in the blood.

# Adenylic acid derivatives

These are substances which, like histamine, are known to be released into the circulation from injured tissues. Tested on normal men adenosinetriphosphate reduces the volume output of the kidney (87). However, all these substances are powerful vasodilators for the kidney (124) and their antidiuretic action has been found to run parallel with their effect on the general blood pressure and to be rapidly reversible (113). Any antidiuresis occurring as a result of the presence of these substances is probably due to the general vasodilatation and the fall in blood pressure that they cause.

#### Renin and hypertensin

In conscious hydrated rabbits renin first causes a brief antidiuresis which is followed by diuresis (115). Pickering and Prinzmetal (175) attribute the antidiuretic effect to an action on the glomerular vessels and a reduction in the rate of filtration. Results on dogs vary to some extent in the hands of different workers. Pickering and Prinzmetal observed a well-maintained antidiuresis in the conscious dog, whilst Merrill, Williams and Harrison (160) generally found a slight or well-marked diuresis as the result of the intravenous administration of renin, whether or not the dogs had been hydrated. The latter workers noticed that the kidney volume increased at the same time that the renal blood flow decreased, an effect similar to that seen after adrenaline (188).

In both dog and rabbit hypertensin has the same effect on the kidneys as renin. This similarity of action is not surprising since in all probability renin is merely the enzyme which, with the hypertensinogen of the plasma, forms hypertensin (17, 172). In the main, the action of these two substances appear to be diuretic rather than antidiuretic. What function, if any, they have in the normal organism is not known.

Vasopressin, other vasoactive substances, and the intrarenal redistribution of blood

Since it is probably impossible to separate the ADH of the posterior pituitary from the pressor fraction, and since the former is effective in far smaller doses than the latter, the examination of the unmixed action of vasopressin on the kidney is not possible. Given in doses at least 7 times larger than those necessary to produce antidiuresis, vasopressin decreases the renal blood flow in dogs and frogs (244). In mammals generally the vasopressor action seems to be of pharmacological rather than physiological interest to the kidney.

The suggestion has been made by Trueta, Barclay, Daniel, Franklin and Prichard (231) that posterior pituitary substances and adrenaline alter renal function by causing a redistribution of blood in the kidneys, and that the antidiuretic effect of the former is due to constriction of cortical arterioles with a transference of blood to medullary nephrons, where the long thin segment reabsorbs a large part of the tubular fluid. A somewhat similar suggestion was originally made by Frey (70, 71). Certainly the juxtamedullary nephrons are arranged differently from the cortical. As Huber (114) showed, the former have a much longer thin segment and the distal tubule (in rabbits) is about half as long as that in the cortical nephrons. Also the pattern of the surrounding capillaries is different, and the efferent arteriole of the juxtamedullary glomerulus is larger than the afferent (231). The work of Trueta et al. (231) was done mainly on rabbits, rats and cats, and they observed the renal circulation radiologically using thorotrast as the contrast medium. Recently, Daniel, Peabody and Prichard (45) have extended the observations to include dogs, sheep and monkeys. In some, but not all, individuals of all these species, under the conditions of their experiments, a closing down of the cortical blood supply was observed. The effective conditions were direct or reflex stimulation of the renal nerves, tissue trauma by the application of a tourniquet to one or both hind limbs, intravenous pituitrin 0.1-0.17 units/kg. rabbit, intravenous pitressin 0.2-20 units/kg. rabbit, intravenous adrenaline 0.1-0.17 mg./kg. rabbit, and equivalent doses for other animals. Daniel et al. also gave 5 µg. adrenaline into the aorta. As far as antidiuresis is concerned the doses used were monumental and might well cause a blood diversion which would not be seen with smaller, but effectively antidiuretic, doses. Given intravenously 5  $\mu$ g, adrenaline is enough to cause maximal antidiuresis. Given intra-aortically, as was done by Daniel et al., this dose would mean a very high concentration in the renal blood. Having seen that large doses had a renal vascular action, it is a pity that Trueta et al. made no attempt to test the response to physiological amounts of the extracts. There is a further criticism of their suggestion that hormone antidiuresis is vascular and not specifically tubular in origin, namely, that after denervation of the kidneys they found no change in blood distribution in the kidneys. It has frequently been shown that ADH is an antidiuretic in the denervated as in the normal kidney (170, 171, 194, 223) Thus, it is unlikely that a hormonal mechanism causes the vascular changes, or that the vascular changes have anything to do with antidiuresis. Other workers using both similar methods to and different methods from those of Trueta et al. have not always come to the same conclusions. It is

easy to cause ischaemia of the whole kidney, less easy to cause cortical ischaemia only. However, the latter has been induced fairly often in rabbits, more rarely in rats and dogs, and so far, not at all in healthy men, or in men suffering from essential hypertension or congestive cardiac failure (6, 83, 112, 157, 216). In man it is obviously impossible to use enormous doses of pitressin, and information regarding renal blood flow and function has to be obtained indirectly by means of clearance measurements. There is, in fact, no evidence that *normal* renal excretory function in man, dog or a number of other mammals in any way depends on intrarenal redistribution of blood.

This is not the place to discuss general renal physiology, but the question of blood redistribution in the organ cannot be left here. Three facts, amongst others, have to be taken into consideration; there is no reason to invoke, nor evidence for, intrarenal blood redistribution as a cause of pituitary or adrenaline antidiuresis when small but adequate doses are used; the kidney is richly supplied with nerves, but it has yet to be proved that these are concerned with renal excretory activity; under certain experimental and clinical conditions the blood supply to the cortical nephrons is diminished. On the last point the work of Trueta et al. has already been mentioned. Goodwin, Sloan and Scott (83) could at times, and particularly by direct stimulation of the renal nerves, induce cortical ischaemia in the kidneys of rabbits, cats, dogs and monkeys. Hoff, Kell, Hastings, Gray and Sholes (108) and Hoff, Kell, Hastings, Sholes and Gray (109) found that prolonged intermittent stimulation of certain gyri of the cerebral cortex resulted in renal cortical, but not juxtamedullary, ischaemia. To the writer there are only two possible ways of accounting for the conflicting evidence as to the importance of intrarenal blood redistribution for renal function. Either cortical ischaemia with medullary engorgement is a wholly abnormal phenomenon, occurring only in response to extreme provocation, or it is normal and connected with an endocrine activity of the kidney, not with its excretory function. In favour of the first possibility is the fact that extreme methods have to be applied to cause renal cortical ischaemia. In favour of the second are the following points. We know that a hypertensive substance, renin, is found in the kidney, and that a vasoexcitor material (VEM) (201) can be collected from it. We know, too, that in some ill-understood way, there is a connexion between the kidney and certain hypertensive states, both clinical and experimental. Renal nerve supply and occasional intrarenal blood redistribution may be concerned with the production of these materials. Under what circumstances this system is activated, why it is more reactive in some species and some individuals than in others, and what place it holds in the normal, as against the pathological, economy are quite unknown.

Recently, a highly vasoactive and antidiuretic substance has been extracted from the posterior salivary glands of certain octopi, and from some viscera of mammals, and named enteramine (60b). Its identity with 5-hydroxy-tryptamine has been established (60a). By means of thiosulphate and p-aminohippuric acid clearance measurements on rats and dogs it was found that its antidiuretic action was due to powerful constriction of the glomerular afferent arterioles, and that

it was effective in doses equivalent to 2 mg. fresh salivary tissue per 100 g. rat. The minimal effective dose for antidiuresis in dogs was not determined (60c, 60d).

# 4. MISCELLANEOUS ANTIDIURETIC SUBSTANCES AND CAUSES OF ANTIDIURESIS Ferritin

It has for a long time been recognised that the liver stands in a special relationship with the kidney (76). Hepatic disease is accompanied by disturbance in water balance and either oliguria or, as in dogs with an Eck fistula (40), polyuria may result. The liver, too, seems to be involved in the first stages of water distribution after water ingestion (2). Finally, a large number of workers have extracted antidiuretic substances from the liver (9, 82, 137, 159, 195, 224, 245). One of these antidiuretic substances, originally called VDM (vasodepressor material), has now been identified as ferritin. It can be formed in the spleen and muscles as well as in the liver, and its production seems to depend on hypoxia of the organs concerned. Ferritin is found in the circulation in renal hypertension in dogs, and in man in essential hypertension, congestive heart failure and the hyporeactive phase of traumatic or haemorrhagic shock, but not in healthy men (201). The activity of ferritin runs parallel with its nitrogen content, that is, with its protein and not its iron-containing moiety (158). The suggestion is that ferritin appears in the blood in shock as the result of hepatic ischaemia (201). The normal liver can inactivate ferritin, but an anoxic liver loses this power, so that increasing amounts accumulate in the blood. The antidiuretic action of ferritin occurs without alteration in blood pressure, GFR or RPF, and is not seen in dogs with diabetes insipidus (207). Presumably, therefore, its action is mediated through the posterior lobe of the pituitary. It is unknown what function ferritin has in the normal animal.

#### Hepato-renal syndrome

In contrast to the polyuria that occurs in some hepatic diseases, in others oliguria and ascites predominate, but there is no evidence that the water retention is due to the production of ferritin. In hepatic cirrhosis the presence of low plasma albumin and ascites do not run parallel. In some cases treatment with liver extract lessened the ascites without raising the plasma albumin, and albumin could be administered without benefit to the oliguria (185, 249). Thus, water retention cannot be due simply to the osmotic effect of low plasma protein. Ralli (185) and her colleagues found that urine from patients with hepatic cirrhosis often had an abnormally high content of antidiuretic substance as judged by the water excretion rate of rats after subcutaneous administration of the urine. This antidiuretic substance appeared to have some of the characteristics of commercial pitressin (217). A similar substance could also be found in the urine in cases of infective hepatitis, and diminished in amount with the approach of convalescence (136). Ralli suggested that water was retained in these cases because liver damage had reduced the power of that organ to inactivate ADH. In favour of this idea was the finding that ADH was effectively inactivated by an enzyme that could

be extracted in more abundance from liver than from spleen, whole blood or muscle (11, 62). Also, in rats whose livers were damaged by a high fat-low protein diet the power of excreting water was markedly depressed and delayed, and moreover, could be improved by supplementing the diet with liver extract and NaCl (142). These animals, like patients with cirrhosis, excreted large amounts of antidiuretic substance in the urine. Gopalan (85) states that he found antidiuretic material in the urine of men suffering from nutritional oedema. The above results could all be interpreted as supporting Ralli's suggestion that excess ADH is the cause of hepatic ascites and oedema. However, she and her co-workers themselves found certain facts that do not agree with this hypothesis. First, they found that in hepatic cirrhosis all renal functions are depressed (141), a phenomenon which is only seen if very large amounts of ADH are administered, and secondly and more important, they are quoted by Smith (207) as stating that the antidiuretic substance obtained from patients with cirrhosis will not inhibit water diversis in the dog when given intravenously, though it is antidiuretic on intraperitoneal administration to the rat. This at once suggests that the problem should be reinvestigated using the rat intravenous method, and bearing in mind the errors that may arise when other routes of administration are used (49). In other words, it is an interesting suggestion that water retention in hepatic disease is due to inadequate ADH destruction, but it is very far from proven.

The abnormal water metabolism in liver disease can more simply be explained as due to altered electrolyte balance. The retention of water and the ascites are not necessarily due to renal disease, since with improvement in the hepatic condition water excretion may return to normal (141). Farnsworth (63) believes that in congestive heart failure and hepatic cirrhosis some disturbance in Na and Cl excretion precedes oedema formation, and not the reverse. Goodyer, Relman, Lawrason and Epstein (84) came to the same conclusion as the result of observations on the rate at which infused NaCl was excreted by normal subjects, and by patients with and without ascites. They believe that there is evidence for specific impairment of the renal mechanism for the excretion of Na in patients with cirrhosis accompanied by ascites and oedema. They made no suggestion as to the cause of the increased Na reabsorption.

#### Adrenal cortical disorders

In Addison's disease ingested water is only slowly excreted and there is a tendency for water intoxication to appear. Birnie, Jenkins, Eversole and Gaunt (13) suggested that the liver may, in part, be the cause of the oliguria. At first they thought that there was a sensitisation to ADH. Later Birnie (11) found that rat liver extracts made after adrenalectomy of the donors were less able to inactivate ADH than extracts of normal livers, so that the apparent sensitisation was, perhaps, due to a diminished destruction of ADH. It was also found that after adrenalectomy the antidiuretic titre of the serum was raised, but could be reduced again by the administration of adrenal cortical extract, deoxycorticosterone or NaCl (12). The tests were made on rats and the serum injected

intraperitoneally. It was thought that the increased antidiuretic activity of the serum was due to the already mentioned deficiency in the system which usually destroys ADH. However, it should be noted that although treatment reduced the antidiuretic titre of the serum, water excretion did not return to normal. Possibly therefore, there was at no time a real change in the ADH content of the serum, but only of some substance which had been acting as an augmentor to the endogenously formed hormone.

The changes of water excretion in Addison's disease are most readily explained as due to the inevitable marked electrolyte disturbance and low blood pressure. The subject of the adrenal cortex and water metabolism is too vast to be further considered here, and references may be found in Gaunt, Birnie and Eversole (72a) and in Smith (207).

#### Antidiuretic substances found in pregnancy

For the greater part of normal pregnancy there seems to be neither specific water retention nor measurable amounts of antidiuretic substances in serum or urine (50, 54, 131, 151, 251), but late in apparently normal pregnancies some women show a lessened capacity for water excretion, and the same thing has been observed during parturition (50, 151). Some observers claim that pregnant serum contains a substance antagonistic to ADH and melanophore hormone, and particularly is this antihormone found in the first part of normal pregnancy. Very little of this substance can be found in the serum of women who are not pregnant (135, 198).

There is a considerable divergence of opinion as to what occurs in eclampsia and pre-eclampsia. Anselmino, Hoffman and Kennedy (5) thought that they had demonstrated the presence of an antidiuretic substance in the blood of eclamptic women, and that this substance was of posterior pituitary origin. Theobald (222) showed that their methods were not reliable, and that their claims could not be substantiated, particularly with regard to the origin of the antidiuretic material. A number of other workers agreed with Theobald (30, 116, 131, 143). On the other hand, Teel and Ried (220) found that there was an antidiuretic substance in the urine of eclamptic women, especially during the phase of acute water retention. The quantity of antidiuretic material found was correlated with the degree of water retention and not with the hypertension or albuminuria. Others (91, 92, 195) too, have found an antidiuretic substance in the urine in pre-eclampsia, but think that it differs from true ADH. Still others believe that they have shown the existence of an increased sensitivity to vasopressin in pre-eclampsia (29, 50) and that in this condition patients react to injections of vasopressin by a rise in blood pressure and fall in urine volume which is far greater than that seen in normal women. Kustner (135) believes that the antihormone present in normal pregnancy is lacking in eclampsia.

In the general confusion it seems clear that excessive production of ADH with primary water retention is not the *cause* of eclampsia or hypertension in pregnancy. It remains to be decided whether antidiuretic substances of unknown origin are formed in considerable amounts in eclampsia and pre-eclampsia, or

whether their apparent discovery is due to the use of unsuitable test methods. The latter seems the more probable.

#### Various steroids

There is general appreciation of the fact that in certain phases of the sexual cycle of females some alteration or disturbance of water metabolism often occurs. In some species an obvious alteration is physiological and is accompanied by water retention (132); in others water retention is not apparent, and, if it does occur, may be abnormal. The question arises whether the known changes in steroid balance are directly or indirectly the cause of altered water metabolism.

Zuckerman, Palmer and Hanson (260) made observations on the water content of some of the tissues of rats after the administration of a single dose of oestrogens. The measurements were made at 6-hourly intervals for 3 days. A biphasic change in water content was found, with an inverse relationship between uterus, vagina and skin and other tissues. The uterus returned to its normal weight in 72 hr. and all other organs in 48 hr. As no figures were given for the total water content of the animals or their body weight changes, it is not possible to say whether there was an actual water retention or only a redistribution of water in the body. Guthkelch and Zuckerman (90) compared the red blood cell counts during phases of the sexual cycle in pig-tailed macaques and rhesus macaques. The pig-tailed species displays sexual skin swelling, and at such a time the red blood cell count increased from 4.5 to 5.75 million with subsidence to normal at the next mid-cycle. There was also a diminished urine output during the phase of sexual skin swelling. The rhesus displays colour changes but no skin swelling; nevertheless, a similar concentration of red blood cells occurred. There was no clear evidence of body weight change and true water retention. When the rhesus was ovariectomised and given oestrone a rise in the red blood cell count was seen during the early follicular phase. No generalisation was possible on the basis of these results. Witten and Bradbury (258) made blood counts and blood volume estimates on women during the intermenstrual period in order to avoid the complication of blood loss. After injections of oestrone or oestradiol propionate they found that the red blood cell count fell to an extent that could be accounted for by the simultaneous increase in blood volume. Friedlander, Laskey and Silbert (72) state that, in women, ovariectomy results in a marked decrease in blood volume, and that administration of oestrogenic preparations increases it again. These results are in contrast to those of Zuckerman, but this may be due to species differences. The difference between pig-tailed and rhesus macaque has already been mentioned, and Friedlander, Laskey and Silbert themselves noted that in humans when the blood volume rose the plasma volume sometimes fell, whereas in cats both blood and plasma volume rose.

In observations made on dogs, Thorn (226, 227, 228) and his colleagues found that whether or not the dogs were adrenalectomised the administration of cestrone, progesterone, pregnanediol or testosterone led to the retention of Cl, Na and water. The same workers made balance studies on women and found that Cl, Na and water were retained at two periods of the menstrual cycle, during

the premenstrual phase and in mid-cycle (228). With the onset of menstruation the retained water and electrolytes were excreted. Similar changes were seen in women after hysterectomy, but not after both hysterectomy and ovariectomy. The changes in water and electrolyte metabolism were, then, probably related to the ovary and oestrogens. There were, however, indications that the weight gain depended on a cyclical increase in hunger and thirst, since by controlling the diet the weight gain could be avoided. Some women show a well-recognised state of premenstrual tension. This is related to an increase in weight with water retention and, sometimes, obvious general oedema. The basal metabolic rate may be low. The fall in BMR, but not the oedema, can be prevented by thyroid administration (8). It has also been noticed that the administration of progesterone can give rise to all the signs of premenstrual tension in those liable to the condition (77). Progesterone has also been shown to prevent the usual postpartum loss of water in mice (46, 47). Frank (68) states that irradiation of the ovaries led to a 3-year cure in patients suffering from premenstrual tension. These observations all point to changes in water metabolism being dependent on the balance of steroids in the body, but do not show how it is brought about. Thomas (225) thought that the tissues were made hydrophilic by a rise in oestrogen concentration, but suggested no cause for the hydrophilia. A number of workers believe that Na retention is the first event, and water retention is secondary (34, 88, 189, 218). From the observations of Thorn and Engels (226) that changes in Na and Cl excretion due to administration of sex hormones were seen in both normal and adrenal ectomised dogs, it appears that adrenal hormones are not necessary for the changes that occur. In all the conditions mentioned water retention is best explained as due to a steroid induced alteration in electrolyte balance.

Two other possibilities may be briefly considered, first, the action of oestrogens on the anterior lobe of the pituitary, and second, their action on the posterior lobe. Oestrogens are known to depress certain activities of the anterior lobe, and so may result in depression of renal function (180, 253). Shapiro (200) found that following large daily injections of oestradiol benzoate to 5 patients there was marked decrease in their urinary output, and that the same reduction was seen in a patient with diabetes insipidus. He suggested that anterior lobe activity had been sufficiently depressed to disturb renal function.

Cavallero, Corbetta and Malandra (31) found that in ovariectomised rats there was a reduction in the ADH content of the pituitary that was not seen if the operated animals had been treated with oestrogens. They suggested that with a changed steroid balance more ADH was produced. Martin, Herrlich and Fazekas (154) postulate that, following adrenal ectomy, an initial stimulation of the posterior lobe is due to early dehydration, with a secondary augmentation due to electrolyte imbalance.

#### 5. SUMMARY

Urine output may be reduced and water retained in the body for a number of reasons, many of which affect water only secondarily. For instance, any process or substance which alters the electrolyte balance will almost certainly also affect

water excretion. As examples may be mentioned hepatic and adrenal disorders, and the changes in steroid balance that occur during the sexual cycle. More directly, water excretion may be diminished when the blood pressure in a part or the whole of the kidney is reduced, or where the renal vessels undergo general constriction. Such renal vascular changes may be caused by substances in the circulating blood, or by activity of the renal nerves. Finally, water excretion may be reduced by the specific action of the antidiuretic hormone of the posterior lobe of the pituitary, and also, therefore, by all substances and conditions that increase the rate of release of the hormone into the circulation. A study of the literature makes it evident that ADH is the only known tissue substance whose normal function it is to control water excretion per se, and that it does so by an action on the cells of the renal tubules.

#### REFERENCES

- ABEL, J. A., ROUILLER, C. A. AND GEILING, E. M. K. Further investigations on the oxytocio-preseor-diuretic
  principle of the infundibular portion of the pituitary gland. J. Pharmacol. & Exper. Therap., 22: 289-316, 1923.
- ADOLPH, E. F., GERBASI, M. J. AND LEPORE, M. J. Redistribution of water following transfusions and infusions. Am. J. Physiol., 167: 647-666, 1934.
- Ames, R. G. and Van Dyke, H. B. Antidiuretic hormone in the urine and pituitary of the kangaroo rat. Proc. Soc. Exper. Biol. & Med., 75: 417-420, 1950.
- Ames, R. G. and Van Dyke, H. B. Antidiuretic hormone in the serum or plasma of rats. Endocrinology, 1952 Endocrinology, 59: 350-360, 1952.
- 5 ANSELMINO, K. J., HOFFMANN, F. AND KENNEDY, W. P. The relation of hyperfunction of the posterior lobe of the hypophysis to eclampsis and nephropathy of pregnancy. Edinburgh M. J., 39: 376-388, 1939.
- Arcadi, J. A. and Farman, F. Experimental studies and clinical aspects of the renal circulation. J. Urol., 62: 756-761, 1949.
- Arnold, O. Über blutdrucksteigernde und diuresehemmende Substanzen im Harn. Arch. f. exper. Path. u. Pharmakol., 196: 360-371, 1938.
- 8. ATKINSON, A. J. AND IVY, A. C. Menstrual oedema. J. Am. M. A., 106: 515-517, 1936.
- BAEZ, S., MAZUR, A. AND SHORR, E. The antidiuretic action of crystalline VDM (ferritin, apoferritin). Federation Proc., 8: 7, 1949, and Am. J. Physiol., 162: 198-212, 1949.
- BERGER, E. Y., GALDSTON, M. AND HORWITZ, S. A. The effect of anoxic anoxia on the human kidney. J. Clin. Investigation, 28: 648-652, 1949.
- BIRNIS, J. H. The inactivation of posterior pituitary antidiurctic hormone by liver extracts. Federation Proc., 9: 12, 1950.
- Birnie, J. H., Eversole, W. J., Boes, W. R., Osborn, C. M. and Gaunt, R. An antidiuretic substance in the blood of normal and adrenalectomized rats. Endocrinology, 47: 1-12, 1950.
- Birnie, J. H., Jenkins, R., Eversole, W. J. and Gaunt, R. An antidiuretic substance in the blood of normal and adrenal cotomised rats. Proc. Soc. Exper. Biol. & Med., 76: 83-85, 1949.
- 14. BJERING, T. The influence of histamine on renal function. Acta med. Scandinav., 91: 267-278, 1937.
- Blumgart, H. L. The antidiuretic effect of pituitary extract applied intranasally in a case of diabetes insipidus. Arch. Int. Med., 29: 508-514, 1922.
- 16. Bohn, H. and Comster, C. Untersuchungen des Blassen Hochdrucks. Ztechr. f. klin. Med., 126; 593-599, 1934.
- Braun-Menendes, E., Fasciolo, J. C., Leloir, L. F., Munos, J. M. and Taquini, A. C. Renal Hypertension. C. C Thomas, Springfield, Illinois, 1946.
- Brun, C., Knudern, E. O. E. and Raaschou, F. On the cause of post-syncopal oliguria. Acta med. Scandinav., 132: 486-500, 1945.
- BULBRING, E. The action of adrenaline on transmission in the superior cervical ganglion. J. Physiol., 103: 55-67, 1944.
- BULBRING, E. AND BURN, J. H. Vascular changes affecting the transmission of nervous impulses. J. Physiol., 97: 250-264, 1939.
- Burgess, W. W., Harvey, A. M. and Marshall, E. K. The site of the antidiuretic action of pituitary extract.
   J. Pharmacol. & Exper. Therap., 49: 237-249, 1933.
- BURN, G. P. AND GREWAL, R. S. The antidiuretic response to, and excretion of, pituitary (posterior lobe) extract in man, with reference to the action of nicotine. Brit. J. Pharmacol., 6: 471-482, 1981.
- Burn, J. H. Estimation of the anti-diuretic potency of pituitary (posterior lobe) extract. Quart. J. Pharm. & Pharmacol., 4: 517-529, 1931.
- 24. Burn, J. H. and Hutcheon, D. E. The action of noradrenaline. Brit. J. Pharmacol., 4: 373-380, 1949.
- BURN, J. H., TRUELOVE, L. H. AND BURN, I. The antidiuretic action of nicotine and of smoking. Brit. M. J., 1: 403-405, 1945.
- Buschke, F. Experimentalle Beitrage sum Wirkungs mechanismus des Hypophysins auf den Wasserund Chloridwechsel. Arch. f. exper. Path. u. Pharmakol., 136: 43-51, 1928.

- BYKOW, K. M. AND ALEXEJEW-BERKMANN, I. A. Die Ausbildung bedingte Reflexe auf Harnausschiedung. Arch. ges. Physiol., 224: 710-721, 1930.
- BYKOW, K. M. AND ALEXEJEW-BERKMANN, I. A. Die Ausbildung bedingte Reflexe auf Harnausschiedung. Arch. ges. Physiol., 227: 301-308, 1931.
- BYROM, F. B. Effect of cestrogenic and other sex hormones on the response of the rat to vasopressin. Lancet, 1: 129-131, 1938.
- BYBOM, F. B. AND WILSON, C. Alleged pituitary origin of eclamptic and pre-eclamptic toxemias of pregnancy. Quart. J. Med., 27: 361-368, 1934.
- CAVALLERO, C., CORBETTA, S. AND MALANDRA, B. The antidiuretic power of rat neurohypophysis after ovariectomy and replacement therapy. Arch. internat de pharmacodyn. et de thérap., 87: 366-370, 1951.
- CAVALLERO, C. AND ZANCHI, M. The antidiuretic hormone of the posterior lobe of the human hypophysis. J. Path. & Bect., 63: 249-252, 1951.
- CHALMERS, T. M. AND LEWIS, A. A. G. Stimulation of the supraoptico-hypophyseal system in man. Clin. Sc., 19: 127-135. 1951.
- CHART, J. J., SHIPLEY, E. G. AND GORDEN, E. S. Evidence for a sodium retaining factor in toxemia of pregnancy. Proc. Soc. Exper. Biol. & Med., 78: 244-246, 1951.
- CHASIS, H., RANGES, H. A., GOLDRING, W. AND SMITH, H. W. Control of renal blood flow and glomerular filtration in normal man. J. Clin. Investigation, 17: 683-697, 1938.
- COMPTER, C. Über biologische wirksame Substansen im Harn. II und III Mitteillungen. Ztschr. f. klin. Med., 128: 656-664, 1935.
- CORCORAN, A. C. AND PAGE, I. H. Effects of hypotension, hemorrhage and of blood transfusion on renal function in dogs. J. Exper. Med. 78: 205-224, 1943.
- 38. CORT, J. H. AND BARRON, D. H. Neural control of renal shunt. Federation Proc., 7: 23, 1948.
- 39. CRAIG, F. N. The action of pituitary extract on urinary secretion. Quart. J. Exper. Physiol., 15: 119-154, 1928.
- CRANDALL, L. A. AND ROBERTS, G. M. Increased water exchange following Eck fistula in dogs. Am. J. Physiol., 117: 318-327, 1936.
- CREDNER, K. Über die Beeinflussung der Diurese durch Ephedrin, Sympatol, Veritol und Pervitin. Arch. f. exper. Path. u. Pharmakol., 266: 188-190, 1949.
- 41a. CROSS, B. A. Suckling antidiuresis in rabbits. J. Physiol., 114: 447-453, 1951.
- CUTTING, M. AND McCANCE, R. A. The metabolism of kidney slices from new-born and full-grown rats.
   J. Physiol., 194: 288-298, 1946.
- CUTTING, M. AND McCANCE, R. A. The metabolism of kidney slices from new-born and mature animals. J. Physiol., 165: 205-214, 1946.
- DALE, H. H. AND LAIDLAW, P. P. The physiological actions of B-iminasolylethylamine. J. Physiol., 41: 318-344, 1910.
- DANIEL, P. M., PEABODY, C. N. AND PRICHARD, M. M. L. Cortical ischaemia of the kidney with maintained blood flow through the medulla. Quart. J. Exper. Physiol., 37: 11-18, 1952.
- DEWAR, A. D. Possible role of progesterone in the water retention of pregnancy in the mouse. J. Physiol., 112: 53P. 1960.
- Dewar, A. D. and Newton, W. H. The nature of the weight loss following parturition and "pseudo-parturition" in the mouse. J. Physiol., 111: 38-37P, 1980.
- DICKER, E. A propos de l'hypertension artèrielle consécutive à une entrave de la circulation rénale. Compt. rend. Acad. Sc., 125: 1046-1047, 1937.
- DICKER, S. E. AND TYLER, C. Antidiuretic titre of plasma from the internal jugular vein of children. J. Physiol., Proceedings: J. Physiol., 117: 28-29 P. 1952.
- Dieckmann, W. J. and Michel, H. L. Vascular renal effects of posterior pituitary extract in pregnant women. Am. J. Obst. & Gynec., 33: 131-137, 1937.
- Dietel, F. G. Hypophysenhinterlappen-sekretbindene Stoffe im Schwangerserum. Klin. Wchnschr., 12: 1683-1686, 1933.
- DIESHIT, B. B. The production of cardiac irregularities by excitation of the hypothalamic centres. J. Physiol., 31: 382-394, 1934.
- 53. DIESHIT, B. B. Action of acetylcholine on the "sleep centre". J. Physiol., 83: 42P, 1935.
- Dill, L. V., Isenhour, C. E., Cadden, J. F. and Robinson, C. E. Glomerular filtration and renal blood flow in normal patients following toxemias of pregnancy. Am. J. Obst. & Gynec., 44: 66-72, 1942.
- DRAPER, W. B. AND WHITEHEAD, R. W. The phenomenon of diffusion respiration. Anesth. & Analg., 28: 307–318, 1949.
- DREYER, N. B. AND VERNEY, E. B. The relative importance of the factors concerned in the formation of urine.
   J. Physiol., 57: 451-456, 1923.
- DUER, H. N. AND PICEFORD, M. Observations on the action of acetylcholine and adrenaline on the hypothalamus J. Physiol., 114: 325-322, 1951.
- DUKE, H. N., PICKFORD, M. AND WATT, J. A. The immediate and delayed effects of disopropylfluorphosphonate injected into the supraoptic nuclei of dogs. J. Physiol., 111: 81-88, 1950.
- 59. Eagle, E. Conditioned inhibition of water diuresis. Amer. J. Physiol., 163: 363-366, 1933.
- 60. ERINEO, O. AND KARVONEN, M. J. Adrenaline antidiuresis in water-loaded dog. To appear in Nature.
- 60a. Erspamer, V. and Asero, B. Enteramine, the specific hormonic product of the entero-chromaffin system. Ricerca Sci., 21: 2132-2136, 1951.
- 60b. ERSPAMER, V. AND OTTOLENGHI, A. Antidiuretic action of enteramine. Experientia, 6: 428, 1950.
- 60c. Erspamer, V. and Ottolenghi, A. Preliminary researches on the mechanism of the antidiuretic action of enteramine. Experientia, 7: 191, 1951.

- 60d. ERSPAMER, V. AND OTTOLENGHI, A. Antidiuretic action of small doses of enteramine in the rat. Experientia, 8: 31, 1952.
- EVERSOLE, W. J. Effects of adrenal medullary hormones on blood and urinary chloride levels during water diuresis. Federation Proc., 16: 41-42, 1951.
- 62. EVERSOLE, W. J., BIRNIE, J. H. AND GAUNT, R. Inactivation of posterior pituitary antidiuretic hormone by liver. Endocrinology, 45: 378-382, 1949.
- FARNEWORTH, E. B. Electrolyte partition in patients with oedema of various origins. Am. J. Med., 4: 338-342, 1948.
- 64. FEE, A. R. Studies on water diuresis. Part II. J. Physiol., 68: 205-312, 1929.
- 65. FRE, A. R. AND HEMINGWAY, A. The oxygen usage of the kidney. J. Physiol., 65: 100-108, 1928.
- FELDERG, W. AND VOGT, M. Acetylcholine synthesis in different regions of the central nervous system. J. Physiol., 107: 372-381, 1948.
- 67. Fireer, C., Ingram, W. R. and Ranson, S. W. Diabetes insipidus and the neuro-hormonal control of water balance. Edward Bros. Inc., Michigan, 1938.
- 68. FRANK, R. T. Hormonal causes of premenstrual tension. Arch. Neurol. & Psychiat., 26: 1053-1057, 1931.
- FRANKLIN, K. J., McGEE, L. E. AND ULLMANN, E. A. Effects of severe asphyxia on the kidney and urine flow. J. Physiol., 112: 43-53, 1951.
- FRET, E. Maximale oder minimale Rückresorption in der Niere. Arch. f. exper. Path. u. Pharmakol., 165: 621-651.
- FREY, E. Schaltstelle des Blutstromes in der Niere und Hypophysenhinterlappenhormon. Arch. f. exper. Path. u. Pharmakol., 182: 632-641, 1936.
- FRIEDLANDER, M., LASKEY, N. AND SILBERT, S. Effect of estrogenic substance on blood volume. Endocrinology, 20: 329-332, 1936.
- 72a. GAUNT, R., BIRNIE, J. H. AND EVERSOLE, W. J. Adrenal cortex and water metabolism. Physiol. Rev., 29: 281-310. 1949.
- GAUNT, R., LILING, M. AND CORDEEN, M. The adrenal medulla in water diuresis and water intoxication. Endocrinology, 37: 136-146, 1945.
- 74. Geiling, E. M. K. Paul Reed Lockwood Lecture, State University, lows. 1940. Quoted from Smith (207).
- Gibson, R. B. and Martin, F. T. Administration of pituitary extract in a case of diabetes insipidus. Arch. Int. Med., 27: 351-360, 1921.
- GILBERT, A. AND LEREBOULLET, P. Des urines retardées (opsiurie) dans les cirrhoses. Compt. rend. Soc. biol., 53: 276-279, 1901.
- GILLMAN, J. Nature of subjective reactions evoked in women by progesterone with special reference to the problem of premenstrual tension. J. Clin. Endocrinol., 2: 157-160, 1942.
- Gilman, A. and Goodman, L. S. The secretory response of the posterior pituitary to the need for water conservation. J. Physiol., 99: 113-124, 1937.
- GILMAN, A. AND KIDD, N. E. The antidiuretic activity of blood and its possible relation to histamine. J. Pharmacol. & Exper. Therap., 63: 10, 1938.
- 80. Ginsburg, M. A method for the assay of antidiuretic activity. Brit. J. Pharmacol., 6: 411-416, 1951.
- 81. GINEBURG, M. AND HELLER, H. Antidiurctic activities in plasma and serum. J. Physiol., 115: 43-44P, 1951.
- GLAUBACH, S. AND MOLITOR, H. Untersuchungen über die hormonal diureseregelnde Tätigkeit der Leber. Arch. f. exper. Path. u. Pharmakol., 122: 31–49, 1928.
- GOODWIN, W. E., SLOAN, R. D. AND SCOTT, W. W. The "Trueta" renal vascular "shunt". An experimental demonstration of neurovascular control of the renal circulation in the rabbit, cat, dog and man. J. Urol., 61: 1010– 1027, 1949.
- 84. GOODYER, A. V. N., RELMAN, A. S., LAWRASON, F. D. AND EPSTEIN, F. H. Salt retention in cirrhosis of the liver. J. Clin. Endocrinol., 29: 973-981, 1950.
- 85. GOPALAN, C. Antidiuretic factor in urine of patients with nutritional cedema. Lancet, 1: 304-306, 1950.
- GOVAERTS, P. AND CAMBIER, P. La diurèse consécutive a l'absorption d'eau par voie entérale et parentérale Bull. Acad. roy. méd. Belgique, 10: 730-778, 1930.
- Green, H. N. and Stoner, H. B. The effect of adenosine triphosphate on a water diuresis in man. J. Physiol., 163: 28P. 1944.
- 88. GREENHILL, J. P. AND FREED, S. C. Electrolyte therapy of premenstrual distress. J. Am. M. A., 117: 504-506, 1941.
- GUNNING, R. E. L. The effects of adrenin on the urine flow of anesthetised and unanesthetised dogs. Am. J. Physiol., 45: 528-534, 1917.
- 90 GUTHKELCH, A. N. AND ZUCKERMAN, S. Concentration of the blood in relation to the menstrual cycle in monkeys. J. Physiol., 89: 51-53P, 1937.
- 91. Ham, G. C. A comparison of pituitrin and antidiuretic substance in human urine and placenta. J. Clin. Investigation, 29: 439, 1941.
- 92. Ham, G. C. and Landes, E. M. A comparison of pituitrin with antidiuretic substance found in human urine and placenta. J. Clin. Investigation, 21: 455-470, 1942.
- 93. HAM, G. C. AND ROSENFELD, M. Ultracentrifugation of antidiuretic, chloruretic and pressor factors of posterior pituitary extracts. Bull. Johns Hopkins Univ., 7 1: 18-23, 1942.
- HANDOVSKY, H. AND SAMAAN, A. Observations on the renal circulation and secretion in the dog, with special reference to the effect of pituitary (posterior lobe) extract. J. Physiol., 89: 14-31, 1937.
- 95. HARE, K., HICKEY, R. C. AND HARE, R. S. The renal excretion of an antidiuretic substance in the dog. Am. J. Physiol., 134: 240-244, 1941.

- HARE, K., MELVILLE, E. V., CHAMBERS, G. H. AND HARE, R. S. The assay of antidiuretic material in blood and urine. Endocrinology. 36: 323-331. 1945.
- 97. HARRIS, G. W. Neural control of the pituitary gland. Physiol. Rev., 28: 139-179, 1948.
- 98. HART, P. D'A. AND VERNEY, E. B. Observations on the rate of water-loss by man at rest. Clin.Sc.1: 367-396, 1934.
- HARTMANN, H., ØBSKOV, S. L. AND REIN, H. Die Geffingreaktionen der Niere im Verlaufe allgemeiner Kreislauf-Regulationsvorgänge, Arch. ges. Physiol., 238: 239–250, 1937.
- 100. HELLER, H. The effect of the hydrogen-ion concentration on the stability of the antidiuretic and vasopressor activities of posterior pituitary extracts. J. Physiol., 96: 337-347, 1939.
- 101. HELLER, H. The posterior pituitary principles of a species of reptiles (Tropidonotus natrix) with some remarks on the comparative physiology of the posterior pituitary gland generally. J. Physiol., 101: 317-336, 1942.
- 102. HELLER, H. The effect of neurohypophyseal extracts on the water balance of lower vertebrates. Biol. Rev., 29: 147-158, 1945.
- 103. HELLER, H. Antidiuretic hormone in pituitary glands of newborn rats. J. Physiol., 106: 28-33, 1947.
- 104. HELLER, H. Antidiuretic substances. J. Pharm. & Pharmacol., 3: 619-630, 1951.
- 105. HELLER, H. AND SMIRK, F. H. Studies concerning the alimentary absorption of water and tissue hydration in relation to diuresis. J. Physiol., 76: 283-302, 1932.
- 106. HELLER, H. AND URBAN, F. F. The fate of the antidiuretic principle of posterior pituitary extract in vive and in vitro. J. Physiol., 85: 503-518, 1935.
- 107. Heller, H. and Zamis, E. J. The antidiuretic and oxytocic hormones in the posterior pituitary gland of newborn infants and adults. J. Physiol., 109: 162-169, 1949.
- 108. HOFF, E. C., KELL, J. F., HASTINGS, N., GRAY, E. H. AND SHOLES, D. M. Acute renal cortical ischemia produced by stimulation of the pressor area of the cerebral cortex. Federation Proc., 8: 76, 1949.
- 109. HOFF, E. C., KELL, J. F., HASTINGS, N., SHOLES, D. M. AND GRAY, E. H. Vasomotor, cellular and functional changes produced in kidney by brain stimulation. J. Neurophysiol., 14: 317-332, 1951.
- HOFF, H., AND WERMER, P. Über psychische Beeinflussung der Tätigkeit des Hypophysinhinterlappens. Arch. f. exper. Path. u. Pharmakol., 133: 97-102, 1928.
- HORRES, A. D., EVERSOLE, W. J. AND ROCK, M. Adrenal medullary hormones in water diuresis. Proc. Soc. Exper. Biol. & Med., 75: 88-61, 1950.
- 112. HOUCE, C. R. Possible renal vascular shunt in dogs during intravenous epinephrine. Federation Proc., 9: 63, 1950.
- 113. HOUCK, C. R., BING, R. H., CRAIG, F. N. AND VISSCHER, F. E. Renal hyperemia after the intravenous infusion of adenylic acid, adenosine, or adenosinetriphosphate in the dog. Am. J. Physiol., 153: 159-168, 1948.
- 114. HUBBR, G. C. On the morphology of the renal tubules of vertebrates. Anat. Rec., 13: 305-339, 1917.
- 115. HUGHES-JONES, N. T., PICKERING, G. W., SANDERSON, P. H., SCARBOROUGH, H. AND VANDENBRUCKE, J. The nature of the action of renin and hypertensin on renal function in the rabbit. J. Physiol., 109: 288-207, 1949.
- HURWITE, D. AND BULLOCK, L. T. Failure to find pressor and antidiuretic substances in patients with toxemia of pregnancy. Am. J. M. Sc., 189: 613-619, 1935.
- Ingram, W. R., Ladd, L. and Benbow, J. T. The excretion of antidiuretic substances by cats. Am. J. Physiol., 123: 107, 1938.
- 118. INGRAM, W. R., LADD, L. AND BENBOW, J. T. Excretion of antidiuretic substance and its relation to hypothal-amico-hypophyseal system in cats. Am. J. Physiol., 127: 544-551, 1939.
- Inving, G. W., Dyer, H. N. and Du Vigneaud, V. Purification of the pressor principle of the pituitary gland by electrophoresis. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 63: 503-506, 1941.
- Janssen, S. Über zentrale Wasserregulation und Hypophysenantidiurese. Arch. f. exper. Path. u. Pharmacol., 135: 1-18, 1928.
- 121. JEFFERS, W. A., LIVEREY, M. M. AND AUSTIN, J. H. A method for demonstrating an antidiuretic action of minute amounts of pitressin; statistical analysis of results, Proc. Soc. Exper. Biol. & Med., 50: 184-188, 1942.
- JONES, A. M. AND SCHLAPP, W. The action and fate of injected posterior pituitary extract in the decapitated cat. J. Physiol., 87: 144-157, 1936.
- 123. Kamm, O., Geote, I. W. and Rowe, L. W. The possibility of interconversion of pituitary hormone and the formation of derived hormone from the β-hormone of the posterior lobe. J. Biol. Chem., 92: 69-70, 1931.
- 124. Keele, C. A. and Slome, D. Adenosine triphosphate and renal blood flow. J. Physiol., 104: 26-27P, 1945.
- 125. KEYS, A. B. The heart-gill preparation of the eel and its perfusion for the study of a natural membrane in situ. Chloride and water secretion and absorption by the gills of the eel. Z. vergl. Physiol., 15: 352-363; 364-388, 1931.
- 125a. KETS, A. AND WILLMER, E. N. "Chloride secreting cells" in the gills of fishes, with special reference to the common cel. J. Physiol., 76: 368-377, 1932.
- KLISIECKI, A., PICKFORD, M., ROTSCHILD, M. AND VERNEY, E. B. The absorption and excretion of water by the mammal. Proc. Roy. Soc. B., 112: 496-547, 1933.
- 127. KNOWLTON, F. P. AND SILVERMAN, A. C. The action of pituitary extract on the kidney. Am. J. Physiol.. 47: 1-12. 1918.
- 128. Koepoed, H. Investigation of the kidneys of the kangaroo rat by the maceration method. Scandinav. J. Clin. & Lab. Med., 1: 340, 1949.
- 129. v. Konschegg, A. and Schuster, E. Über die Beeinflussung der Diurese durch Hypophysin Extrakt. Deutsche med. Wchnschr., 41: 1091-1095, 1915.
- 130. Korr, I. The camotic function of the chicken kidney. J. Cell. & Comp. Physiol., 13: 175-193, 1939.
- KRIEGER, V. I. AND KILVINGTON, T. B. Antidiuretic activity in the blood of nonpregnant women and women during normal and toxemic pregnancy. J. Clin. Endocrinol., 6: 320-324, 1946.

- Krohn, P. L. and Zuckerman, S. Water retention and skin swelling in pig-tailed macaque. J. Physiol., 88: 369-387, 1937.
- 133. KUBICER, W. G., HARVEY, R. B. AND KOTTER, F. J. The adrenaline sensitivity of the denervated dog kidney. Federation Proc., 7: 68, 1948.
- Kuschimert, G. and Liebert, P. Untersuchungen über den Hormongehalt des Hypophysenhinterlappens der Ratte unter dem Einfluss von Wasser, Kochsals und Novasurol. Klin. Wehnschr., 18: 823, 1939.
- Kustner, H. Eigenartige Wirkung des Schwangerenserum besonders bei Eklampsie. Zbl. Gynaec., 51: 2080-2081, 1927.
- 136. LABBY, D. H. Studies of water storage in liver disease, III The antidiuretic activity of the urine during acute infective hepatitis. J. Clin. Investigation, 28: 795, 1949.
- LAMPE, W. Die Beeinflussung der Diurese durch Leber Extrakte. Arch. f. exper. Path. u. Pharmakol., 119: 83-90, 1926.
- 138. LAMPORT, H. The effect on renal resistance to blood flow of renin, angiotonin, pitressin, atropine, hypertensin, and toxemia of pregnancy. J. Clin. Investigation, 21: 685-696, 1942,
- LAUSON, H., EDER, H. A., CHINARD, F., COTEIAS, G. C. AND GREIF, R. L. Estimation of the rate of antidiuretic hormone secretion in normal man. Federation Proc., 7: 69-70, 1948.
- 140. Leschur, E. Diabète insipide et systeme hypothalamo-hypophysaire. Ann. Med., 33: 261-271, 1933.
- 141. LESLIE, S. H., JOHNSON, B. AND RALLI, E. P. Renal clearances in patients with cirrhosis of the liver, with and without ascites. J. Clin. Investigation, 9: 682, 1949.
- 142. LESLIE, S. H. AND RALLI, E. P. The effect in rate of high fat diets on the renal excretion of water and antidiuretic substances. Endocrinology, 41: 1-11, 1947.
- 143. LEVITT, G. The problem of an antidiuretic substance in the blood of patients with eclampsia and other hypertensive disease. With observations on the spinal fluid. J. Clin. Investigation, 15: 135-142, 1936.
- 144. LEWIS, A. A. G. AND CHALMERS, T. M. A nicotine test for the investigation of diabetes insipidus. Clin. Sc.. 10: 127-144, 1951.
- LIVINGSTON, A. E. Further experiments on the effects of small doses of vasoconstrictor substances on the kidney.
   J. Pharmacol. & Exper. Therap., 32: 181-188, 1928.
- 146. LIUNGBERG, E. On the reabsorption of chlorides in the kidney of the rabbit. Acta med. Scandinav., suppl., 127: 7-180, 1947.
- 147. Luco, J. V. The defatiguing effect of adrenaline. Am. J. Physiol., 125: 196-204, 1939.
- 148. McFarlane, A. The antidiuretic action of the pituitary. J. Pharmacol. & Exper. Therap., 28: 177-208, 1926.
- 149. McIntyre, A. R. and van Dyke, H. B. The distribution and concentration of water and halides in blood and urine during diuresis-inhibition by pituitary extract. J. Pharmacol. & Exper. Therap., 42: 155-168, 1932.
- MACKERSIE, W. A. The diuretic and antidiuretic effect of pituitary extract and suggestions for a subsidiary test.
   J. Pharmacol. & Exper. Therap., 24: 83-99, 1925.
- McManus, M. A., Riley, G. A. and Janney, J. C. Kidney function in pregnancy. Am. J. Obet. & Gynec.. 28: 524-538. 1934.
- MALUF, N. S. R. Nephro-omentopexy, compensatory renal hyperfunction and measurements of renal dynamics. Am. J. Physiol., 156: 79–86, 1949.
- 183. MARRAEI, A. S. Electrical studies on the pharmacology of autonomic synapses; action of parasympathomimetic drugs on sympathetic ganglia. J. Pharmacol. & Exper. Therap., 45: 395-404, 1939.
- 154. MARTIN, S. J., HERRIJCH, H. C. AND FAZERAS, J. F. Relation between electrolyte imbalance and excretion of antidiuretic substance in adrenalectomised cats. Am. J. Physiol., 127: 51-57, 1939.
- MARK, H. Untersuchungen über den Wasserhaushalt. II Mitteilung. Die psychische Beeinflussung des Wasserhaushaltes. Klin. Wehnschr., 5: 92-94, 1926.
- 156. MARK, H. Diuresis by conditioned reflex. Am. J. Physiol., 96: 356-362, 1931.
- MAXWELL, M. H., BREED, E. S. AND SMITH, H. W. Significance of renal juxtamedullary circulation in man. Am. J. Med., 9: 216-228, 1950.
- 156. MASUR, A. AND SHORR, E. Hepato-renal factors in circulatory homeostasis. J. Biol. Chem., 176: 771-787, 1948.
- 159. MRIER, H. Dei Beeinflussung der Harnabsonderung durch die Leber, Biochem. Ztechr., 209: 200-217, 1929.
- MERRILL, A., WILLIAMS, R. H. AND HARRISON, T. R. The effects of a pressor substance obtained from the kidneys and the renal circulation of rats and dogs. Am. J. M. Sc., 196: 240-246, 1938.
- Molitor, H. and Pick, E. P. Zur Kenntniss der Diuresehemmung durch Hypophysenpreparate. Klin. Wehnschr., 2: 2242-2243, 1923.
- 163. Molfron, H. and Pick, E. P. Über Diuresehemmung durch Histamin und Cholin. Arch. f. exper. Path. u. Pharmakol., 101: 198-206, 1924.
- MOLITOR, H. AND PICK, E. P. Über sentrale Regulation des Wasserwechsels. Arch. f. exper. Path. u. Pharmakol., 167: 185-191, 1925.
- Mollyon, H. and Pick, E. P. Über sentrale Regulation des Wasserwechsels. Arch. f. exper. Path. u. Pharmakol., 112: 112-121, 1926.
- 165. MOTEFRADT, K. Experimental studies in the relationship of the pituitary body to renal function. J. Exper. Med., 25: 153-188, 1917.
- NELSON, E. E. AND WOODS, G. G. The diuretic and antidiuretic activity of posterior pituitary extracts. J. Pharmacol. & Exper. Therap., 50: 241-253, 1934.
- NOBLE, R. L., RINDERENBERT, H. AND WILLIAMS, P. C. Apparent augmentation of pituitary antidiuretic action by various retarding substances. J. Physiol., 96: 293-301, 1939.
- 168. O'CONNOR, W. J. The effect of section of the supraoptico-hypophyseal tracts on the inhibition of water diuresis by emotional stress. Quart. J. Exper. Physiol., 33: 149-163, 1945.

- 169. O'CONNOR, W. J. The control of urine secretion in mammals by the pars nervosa of the pituitary. Biol. Rev., 22: 30-53. 1947.
- 170. O'CONNOR, W. J. AND VERNEY, E. B. The effect of removal of the posterior lobe on the inhibition of water diuresis by emotional stress. Quart. J. Exper. Physiol., 31: 393-408, 1942.
- 171. O'CONNOR, W. J. AND VERNEY, E. B. The effect of increased activity of the sympathetic system in the inhibition of water diuresis by emotional stress. Quart. J. Exper. Physiol., 33: 77-90, 1945.
- PAGE, I. H. AND HELMER, O. M. A grystalline pressor substance (angiotonin) resulting from the reaction between renin and renin activator. J. Exper. Med., 71: 29-42, 1940.
- 173. PÉNAU, H. AND SMONET, H. Titrage biologique de l'activité antidiuretique des extraits de lobe postèrior d'hypophyse. J. Pharm. Chim., Paris. 20: 304-319, 1934.
- 174. PHILLIPS, R. A., DOLE, V. P., HAMILTON, P. B., EMERSON, K., ARCHIBALD, R. M. AND VAN SLYKE, D. D. The effects of acute hemorrhagic and traumatic shock on renal function of dogs. Am. J. Physiol., 145: 313-336, 1946.
- 175. Pickering, G. W. and Prinemetal, M. The effect of renin on urine formation. J. Physiol., 98: 314-335, 1940.
- 176. PICKPORD, M. The inhibition of water diuresis by pituitary (posterior lobe) extract and its relation to the water load of the body. J. Physiol., 87: 291-297, 1936.
- PICKPORD, M. The inhibitory effect of acetylcholine on water diuresis in the dog, and its pituitary transmission.
   J. Physiol., 95: 226-238, 1939.
- PICKPORD, M. Control of the secretion of antidiuretic hormone of the pars nervosa of the pituitary gland. Physiol. Rev., 25: 573-595, 1945.
- PICKFORD, M. The action of acetylcholine in the supraoptic nucleus of the chloralosed dog. J. Physiol., 166: 264
  270, 1947.
- Picepond, M. and Ritchin, A. E. Experiments on the hypothalamic-pituitary control of water excretion in dogs. J. Physiol., 104: 105-128, 1945.
- PICKFORD, M. AND WATT, J. A. A comparison of the effect of intravenous and intracarotid injections of acetylcholine in the dog. J. Physiol., 114: 333-335, 1951.
- PICKPORD, M. AND WATT, J. A. Comparison of some of the actions of adrenaline and noradrenaline on the kidney. Quart. J. Exper. Physiol., 36: 208-212, 1951.
- POTTS, A. M. AND GALLAGHER, T. F. Cystine, tyrosine and arginine content of high potency pressor and oxytocic pituitary hormone. J. Biol. Chem., 143: 561-562, 1942.
- POULSSON, L. T. Über die Wirkung des Pituitrins auf die Wasserauschiedung durch die Niere. Ztechr. f. d. ges. exper. Med., 71: 577-630, 1930.
- RALLI, E. P., ROBSON, J. S., CLARKE, D. AND HOAGLAND, C. L. Factors influencing ascites in patients with cirrhosis of the liver. J. Clin. Investigation, 24: 316-325, 1945.
- 186. Rams, M. H. The influence of pituitary extracts on the absorption of water from the small intestine. Am. J. Physiol., 53: 43-48, 1920.
- 187. REURI, F. C. AND FUTCHER, P. H. The effects of histamine on renal function in hypertensive and normotensive subjects. J. Clin. Investigation, 28: 440-446, 1949.
- RICHARDS, A. N. AND PLANT, O. H. Urine formation in the perfused kidney. The influence of adrenaline on the perfused kidney. Am. J. Physiol., 59: 144-183, 1922.
- RICHARDSON, J. A. AND HOUCK, C. R. Renal tubular excretory mass and reabsorption of sodium, potassium and chloride in testosterone-treated and estradiol-treated female dogs. Federation Proc., 9: 105-106, 1980.
- Rosoz, P. Über die Wirkung des Hypophysens auf den Wasserstoffwechsel. Arch. f. exper. Path. u. Pharmakol., 189: 562-582, 1931.
- ROSENFELD, M. The native hormones of the posterior pituitary gland: the pressor and oxytocic principles. Bull.
  Johns Hopkins Univ., 66: 398-403, 1940.
- ROSS, H. AND STEHLE, R. L. On the immediate antidiuretic action of pituitary extract. J. Pharmacol. & Exper. Therap., 38: 451-460, 1930.
- RYDIN, H. AND VERNEY, E. B. The inhibition of water diuresis by emotional stress and muscular exercise, Quart. J. Exper. Physiol., 27: 348-374, 1938.
- 194. Samaan, A. The effect of pituitary (posterior lobe) extract upon urinary flow in non-anaesthetised dogs. J. Physiol., 85: 37-46, 1935.
- SCHAPPER N. E., CADDEN, J. F. AND STANDER, H. J. Measurement of antidiuretic activity as applied to eclamptic
  urine and properties of antidiuretic substances in rat urine, pituitary and beef liver. Endocrinology, 26: 701
  706, 1941.
- 196. SCHLIEFER, C. Über die osmoreregulationische Funktion der Aal Kiemen. Z. vergl. Physiol., 18: 683-695, 1933 197. SCHMIDT-NIELSEN, B. AND SCHMIDT-NIELSEN, K. Reduced evaporative water loss from the lungs of certain.
- desert mammals. Federation Proc., 8: 139-140, 1949.

  198. SCHOKARET, J. A. AND LAMBILLON, J. Observations complémentaires sur la substance antagoniste de la vascpressine dans le sèrum de la femme enceinte. Compt. rend. Soc. biol., 122: 478-480, 1936.
- 199. Shannon, J. A. The control of renal excretion of water. I. The effect of variations in the state of hydration on water excretion in the dog with diabetes insipidus. J. Exper. Med., 76: 387-399, 1942.
- 200. Shapiro, B. B. The influence of follicular hormone on urinary secretion in man. J. Physiol., 92: 3P, 1938.
- 201. Shorr, E., Zweichfach, B. W., Furchgoff, R. F. and Bars, S. Hepato-renal factors in circulatory homeostasis. iv. Tissues origins of the vasotropic principles, VEM and VDM, which appear during evolution of hemorphagic and tourniquet shock. Circulation, 2: 42-79, 1951.
- Silverts, H. Some effects of low barometric pressure on kidney function in the white rat. Am. J. Physiol., 149: 374-386, 1943.

- Simon, A. The preser and oxytocic content of the hypophysis of rats under various conditions. Am. J. Physiol., 167: 220-226, 1934.
- Simon, A. and Kardos, Z. Über den Gehalt Hypophysinhinterlappen normaler und durstender Tiere an blutdruck- und uterus-wirksamer Stoffen. Arch. f. exper. Path. u. Pharmakol., 176: 238-242, 1934.
- Simon, A. and Nagy, F. Über den Gehalt menechlicher Hypophysinhinterlappen an blutdruck und uteruswirksamer Stoffen. Arch. f. exper. Path. u. Pharmakol., 176: 242-247, 1934.
- 206. SINCLAIR-SMITH, B. C., SISSON, J., KATTUS, A. A., GENECIN, A., MONGE, C., McKrever, W. and Newman, E. V. The effects of posterior pituitary extract and smoking on water, sodium and chloride excretion in normal subjects and in patients with congestive heart failure. Bull. Johns Hopkins Univ., 87: 221-254, 1950.
- 207. SMITH, H. W. The kidney. Oxford Univ. Press, Oxford, 1951.
- 208. SPERBER, I. Studies in the mammalian kidney. Zool. Bidr., Upsala, 22: 249-432, 1944.
- SPEINGORUM, P. W. AND CENTENERA, D. Die verschiedene Beteiligung beider Nieren an Diurese-änderungen und vasomotorischen Reaktionen. Arch. ges. Physiol., 239: 440-450, 1937.
- STARLING, E. H. AND VERNEY, E. B. The secretion of urine as studied in the isolated kidney. Proc. Roy. Soc., B., 97: 321-363, 1925.
- STEGGERDA, F. G. AND ESSEX, H. E. Comparative study of effects of preparations of poeterior lobe of pituitary gland on water interchange in from Proc. Soc. Exper. Biol. & Med., 32: 425-438, 1934.
- 212. STERLE, R. L. The chemistry of the posterior lobe of the pituitary gland. Vitamins and Hormones, 7: 383-388, 1949.
- 218. STEHLE, R. L. The actions of the hormone of the posterior lobe of the pituitary gland upon the circulation, and the secretion of urine. Vitamins and Hormones, 7: 389-435, 1949.
- 214. STERLE, R. L. AND FRASER, A. M. The purification of the pressor and oxytocic hormones of the pituitary gland and some observations on the chemistry of the products. J. Pharmacol. & Exper. Med., 55: 136-151, 1935.
- STICKNEY, J. C., NORTHRUP, D. W. AND VAN LIERE, E. J. The effect of anoxic anoxis on urine secretion in anesthetised dogs. Am. J. Physiol., 147: 616-621, 1946.
- STUDY, R. S. AND SHIPLEY, R. E. Effects of renal artery-nerve stimulation on renal blood flow measured directly, and by clearance and extraction of diodrast. Am. J. Physiol., 159: 592, 1949.
- STURCE, G. H., LEBLIE, S. H. AND RALLI, E. P. Preliminary observations on the antidiuretic substance recovered
  from the urines of patients with cirrhosis of the liver. Endocrinology, 44: 325-332, 1949.
- TAYLOR, H. C., WARNER, R. C. AND WELSE, C. A. The relationship of the estrogens and progreterone to the edema of normal and toxemic pregnancy. Am. J. Obst. & Gynec., 45: 547-568, 1943.
- TAYLOR, N. B. G. AND WALKER, J. M. Antidiuretic substances in human urine after smoking. J. Physiol., 113: 412-418, 1951.
- 220. THEL, H. M. AND REID, D. E. Observations upon the occurrence of an antidiuretic substance in the urine of patients with pre-eclampsia and eclampsia. Endocrinology, 24: 297-310, 1939.
- 221. THEOBALD, G. W. The alleged relation of hyperfunction of the posterior lobe of the hypophysis to eclampeia and the nephropathy of pregnancy. Clin. Sc., 1: 225-239, 1934.
- 222. THEOBALD, G. W. The repetition of certain experiments on which Molitor and Pick base their water-centre hypothesis, and the effect of afferent nerve stimuli on water diuresis. J. Physiol., 34: 243-254, 1934.
- Theobald, G. W. and Verney, E. B. The inhibition of water diuresis by afferent nerve stimuli after complete denervation of the kidney. J. Physiol., 83: 341-351, 1935.
- 224. THEOBALD, G. W. AND WHITE, M. Antidiuretic substances from liver. J. Physiol., 78: 18P, 1933.
- 225. THOMAS, W. A. Generalised edema occurring only at the menstrual period. J. Am. M. A., 101: 1126-1127, 1933,
- 226. THORN, G. W. AND EMERSON, K. The role of gonadal and adrenal cortical hormones in the production of edema.

  Ann. Int. Med., 14: 757-766, 1940.
- THORN, G. W. AND ENGEL, L. L. The effect of sex hormones on the renal excretion of electrolytes. J. Exper. Med., 68: 299-312, 1938.
- 228 THORN, G.W., NELSON, K. R. AND THORN, D. W. A study of the mechanism of edema associated with menstruation. Endocrinology, 22: 155-163, 1938.
- 229. TOTH, L. A. The effects of epinephrine on urine secretion in the dog. Am. J. Physiol., 119: 140-148, 1937.
- 230. Тотн, L. A. Urine excretion during anoxia of normal and denervated kidneys in the dog with and without adrenal glands. Am. J. Physiol., 129: 532-538, 1940.
- TRUBTA, J., BARCLAY, A. E., FRANKLIN, K. J., DANIEL, P. M. AND PRICHARD, M. M. L. Studies of the renal circulation. Blackwell Scientific Publications, Oxford, 1947.
- 232. Undershill, F. P. and Pack, G. T. The influence of various diuretics on the concentration of the blood. Am. J. Physiol., 66: 520-552, 1923.
- 234. Unna, K. Arterieller Druck und Nieren-durchblutung. Arch. ges. Physiol., 235: 515-519, 1935.
- VAICHULIS, J. A. Effect of autolysis on differential solubility of principles of posterior lobe of pituitary body. Endocrinology, 32: 361-366, 1943.
- 236. VAN DYKE, H. B., CHOW, B. F., GREEF, R. O. AND ROTHEN, A. The isolation of a protein from the pars neuralis of the ox pituitary with constant pressor, oxytocic and diuresis-inhibiting activities. J. Pharmacol. & Exper. Therap., 74: 190-200, 1942.
- 237. VELL, W. H. Uber intermediäre Vorgänge beim Diabetes insipidus und ihre Bedeutung für die Kenntniss vom Wesen diese Leidens. Biochem. Ztschr., 91: 317-380, 1918.
- 238. VERWEY, E. B. Secretion of pituitrin in mammals as shown by perfusion of the isolated kidney of the dog. Proc. Roy. Soc., B., 99: 487-517, 1926.
- 239. VERNEY, E. B. Absorption and excretion of water; antidiuretic hormone. Lancet, 739-744; 781-783, 1946.

- VERNET, E. B. The antidiuretic hormone and the factors which determine its release. Proc. Roy. Soc., B., 135: 25-106, 1947.
- VERNEY, E. B. AND VOGT, M. Observations on the effect of renal ischaemia upon arterial pressure and urine flow in the dog. Quart. J. Exper. Physiol., 32: 35-65, 1943.
- DU VIGNEAUD, V., IRVING, G. W., DYER, H. M. AND SEALOCK, R. R. Electrophoresis of posterior pituitary gland preparations. J. Biol. Chem., 123: 45-55, 1938.
- 243. Voor, M. Communication to the British Pharmacological Society, January, 1952.
- WAKIM, K. G., HERRICK, J. F., BALDES, J. AND MANN, F. C. The effect of pitressin on renal circulation and urine secretion. J. Clin. & Lab. Med., 27: 1013-1022, 1942.
- WALKER, A. M. An antidiuretic effect produced by certain preparations of heparin. Proc. Soc. Exper. Biol. & Med., 39: 105-106, 1938.
- 246. WALKER, A. M. Experiments upon the relation between pituitary gland and water diuresis. Am. J. Physiol., 127: 519-540, 1939.
- 247. WALKER, A. M., BOTT, P. A., OLIVER, J. AND McDowell, M. C., The collection and analysis of fluid from single nephrons of the mammalian kidney. Am. J. Physiol., 134: 580-595, 1941.
- WALKER, A. M., SCHMIDT, C. F., ELSOM, K. A. AND JOHNSTON, C. G. Renal blood flow of unanesthetised rabbits and dogs in diuresis and antidiuresis. Am. J. Physiol., 118: 95-110, 1937.
- WATSON, C. J. AND GREENBERG, A. Certain effects of salt-poor human albumin in cases of hepatic disease. Am.
   J. M. Sc., 217: 651-657, 1949.
- 250. Weir, T. F., Larson, E. E. and Rowntree, L. G. Studies in diabetes insipidus, water balance, and water intoxication. Arch. Int. Med., 29: 306-309, 1922.
- Welsh, C. A., Wellen, I. and Taylor, H. C. The filtration rate, effective renal blood flow, tubular excretory
  mass and phenol red clearance in normal pregnancy. J. Clin. Investigation, 21: 57-62, 1942.
- WESSON, L. G., ANSLOW, W. P. AND SMITH, H. W. The excretion of strong electrolytes. Bull. New York Acad. Med., 24: 586-606, 1948.
- WHITE, H. L., HEINBECKER, P. AND ROLF, D. Some endocrine influences on renal function. Am. J. Physiol., 149: 404-417, 1947.
- 254. WINTON, F. R. The control of the glomerular pressure by vascular changes within the isolated mammalian kidney, demonstrated by the action of adrenaline. J. Physiol., 73: 151-162, 1931.
- 255. WINTON, F. R. Physical factors involved in the activity of the mammalian kidney. Physiol. Rev., 17: 408-435, 1937.
- Wire, H., Hargitat, B. and Kuen, W. Lokalisation der Konsentrierungsprosessus in der Niere durch direkte Kryoskopie. Helv. Physiol. Acta., 9: 196-207, 1951.
- 257. Wirs, H. Personal communication.
- WITTEN, C. M. AND BRADBURY, J. T. Hemodilution as a result of estrogen therapy. Proc. Soc. Exper. Biol. & Med., 78: 626-629, 1951.
- 259. Yanagi, K. The effect of posterior pituitary preparations upon the colloid camotic pressure of serum protein, water and mineral metabolism of dogs. J. Pharmacol. & Exper. Therap., 56: 23-38, 1936.
- ZUCKERMAN, S., PALMER, A. AND HANSON, D. A. The effect of steroid hormones on the water content of the tissues. J. Endocrinol., 6: 261-276, 1950.